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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Dear Shareholders,

We truly appreciate your attention to and support for Cutia Therapeutics.

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2024.

Cutia Therapeutics is an R&D-driven, dermatology innovative products-focused biopharmaceutical company 
committed to developing comprehensive solutions that are tailored to meet the diverse and evolving needs of 
patients and consumers in the broader dermatology treatment and care market.

In 2024, Cutia achieved significant progresses in commercialization and the development of commercial capabilities, 
the clinical progress of new products, and the construction of GMP manufacturing capabilities.

ACCELERATING COMMERCIALIZATION MOMENTUM: DIVERSIFIED PRODUCT PORTFOLIO 
DRIVES ROBUST SALES GROWTH, WITH STEADY DEVELOPMENT OF SUBSEQUENT 
PIPELINE CANDIDATES
In 2024, relying on the Company’s strong product capabilities, sales and operational strengths, we continued to 
launch blockbuster products into the market and maintained excellent online sales performance. Our revenue 
recorded approximately RMB280 million, representing a growth of 103% year-over-year for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

Our revenue is generated from a diverse products, primarily including scalp diseases and care products and skin 
care products. During the “618 campaign”, our products recorded GMV exceeding RMB56 million, representing 
a growth of 500% year-over-year. During the “11.11 campaign”, our products recorded GMV exceeding RMB110 
million, which is double the GMV of the “618 campaign”. By continuously launching new products into the market, 
we have further improved our product portfolio. By developing diversified e-commerce channels, we have not only 
achieved standout performance from individual product, but also driven the sustained volume growth from other 
products. We were also dedicated to building and strengthening long-term trust with consumers, the repurchase 
rate and conversion rate for customer service continued to be higher than the industry average.
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We have steady development of subsequent pipeline candidates. CU-10201 (topical 4% minocycline foam) obtained 
marketing approval from the NMPA in November 2024. It is the first and only topical minocycline approved for 
acne vulgaris treatment globally and the first topical minocycline in china with priority review designation to obtain 
marketing approval from the NMPA. The NDA for CU-40102 (topical finasteride spray) was accepted by the NMPA 
in January 2024, and we submitted the NDA to the Hong Kong Department of Health in April 2024. It is the first and 
only topical finasteride product approved for androgenetic alopecia treatment globally and is also the first topical 
finasteride to have its NDA accepted by the NMPA. The drug marketing authorization application for CU-30101 
(localized topical lidocaine and tetracaine cream) was accepted by the NMPA in July 2024.

SUSTAINED R&D COMMITMENT: CORE PRODUCT ACHIEVED NEW MILESTONES, WHILE 
OTHER PIPELINE CANDIDATES ADVANCED SYSTEMATICALLY
As at the end of the Reporting Period, we have made encouraging progress in advancing R&D product pipeline 
and clinical trial progress.

In December 2024, CU-20401 (recombinant mutant collagenase) completed the Phase II clinical trial for submental 
adipose accumulation in China, demonstrating significant and robust efficacy advantages with favorable safety 
profile. The IND application of CU-10101 (topical novel small molecule agent) targeting mild to moderate atopic 
dermatitis was approved by the CDE in May 2024. We completed the first patient enrollment of the Phase I 
clinical trial in China in September 2024. Other pipeline candidates are advancing in accordance with our clinical 
development schedule.

MANUFACTURING FACILITIES COMMENCED OPERATION: WITH AN ANNUAL PRODUCTION 
CAPACITY OF FIVE MILLION DOSES, EFFECTIVELY SUPPORT THE COMMERCIALIZATION 
AND PRODUCTION CAPACITY NEEDS OF DRUG CANDIDATES
Our commercial-scale GMP manufacturing facilities with three drug product production lines in Jiangsu province 
have commenced operation in 2023. The three production lines cover topical cream, ointment, aerosol, and foam 
products. The flow and control of the entire manufacturing process are designed to be compliant with the latest 
GMP requirements, ensuring that our production can meet the clinical and marketing approval requirements of 
various drug regulatory authorities (including the NMPA, FDA and European Medicines Agency). We believe the 
production capacity of such manufacturing facilities can support our clinical trials and near-term commercialization
plans for our drug candidates.

In addition, Cutia Wuxi, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has obtained the “Drug Manufacturing Certificate 
(藥品生產許可證)” issued by the Jiangsu Medical Products Administration in April 2024, which is expected to play a 
long-term constructive role in production capacity expansion and market development of the Company, thus laying 
the foundation for subsequent commercialization of our product candidates.
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Looking ahead to 2025, we will continue to strengthen the commercialization of CU-10201 (topical 4% minocycline 
foam) in China, enabling consumers to access our products at the earliest opportunity. By leveraging our established 
online channels and prearranged offline channels, we aim to expedite the rapid market expansion of our products. 
This not only significantly enhances our brand recognition but also substantially elevates the influence of our 
products. Our CU-40102 (topical finasteride spray) and CU-30101 (localized topical lidocaine and tetracaine 
cream) are also anticipated to receive regulatory approval for commercialization in China. In preparation for 
these milestones, we are proactively coordinating market launch initiatives to ensure seamless connectivity to our 
existing sales platforms while expanding our sales network more extensively. These efforts will allow us to deliver 
a comprehensive portfolio of products that address the changing and diverse needs of patients and consumers.

CU-20401 (recombinant mutant collagenase) has demonstrated favorable safety and efficacy profiles in the Phase 
II clinical trial conducted in China. Based on these positive outcomes, the Group will further explore its therapeutic 
advantages and expedite its progression to Phase III clinical trial. Furthermore, the Group will fully leverage its R&D 
strengths to systematically promote the clinical progress of the remaining pipeline candidates.

We are optimistic on the market potential of the online and offline channels and adhere to our core marketing 
strategy of online and offline marketing while exploring online-to-offline marketing combinations and leverage the 
synergistic advantages of multiple products to drive robust overall sales growth. We will continue to strengthen our 
sales capabilities and actively develop online marketing campaigns on various e-commerce platforms and social 
media platforms to increase brand awareness. In addition, we will work closely with renowned physicians to conduct 
product demonstrations and trainings.

Leveraging on our CATAME® technology platform, our integrated commercialization model, in-depth industry 
experience and the determination of our team, we believe we can seize the opportunities arising from the rapid 
expansion of China’s sales network, provide innovative solutions for patients and generate higher returns for our 
Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my utmost respect to all employees and extend sincere gratitude to 
our Shareholders and stakeholders for their unwavering trust and support throughout the years.

Dr. Chen Lian Yong
Chairman and Non-executive Director

24 March 2025
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HIGHLIGHTS
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
– Revenue increased by approximately 103% from approximately RMB138 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023 to approximately RMB280 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

– The existing sales channels of the Group have demonstrated preliminary scale effects. Meanwhile, the Group 
has achieved effective cost control. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the ratio of selling and distribution 
expenses to revenue decreased significantly compared to the corresponding period of the previous fiscal 
year. R&D costs decreased by approximately RMB17 million, or 8%, year-on-year. Administrative expenses 
decreased by approximately RMB44 million, or 24%, compared to the corresponding period of the previous 
fiscal year.

– For the year ended 31 December 2024, loss and total comprehensive loss for the year decreased significantly 
compared to the corresponding period of the previous fiscal year. The Group will continue to optimize its 
operating efficiency, and the ratio of loss and total comprehensive loss for the year to revenue is expected 
to further narrowed.

– The Group’s total cash and cash equivalents, time deposits over three months and financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss amounted to approximately RMB876 million as of 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31 December 2024, we have made the following significant progress in commercialization as 
well as in advancing our product pipelines:

– Commercialization: In 2024, we continued to achieve strong sales performance for our scalp diseases and 
care products and our skin care products, maintaining a high-speed growth. During the “618 campaign”, our 
products recorded GMV exceeding RMB56 million, representing a growth of 500% year-over-year. During 
the “11.11 campaign”, our products recorded GMV exceeding RMB110 million, which is double the GMV of 
the “618 campaign”. Meanwhile, CU-10201 (topical 4% minocycline foam) has obtained marketing approval 
from the NMPA of China, and we are currently actively preparing for its commercialization activities in China.

– CU-10201 (topical 4% minocycline foam): CU-10201 obtained marketing approval from the NMPA in 
November 2024. It is the first and only topical minocycline approved for acne vulgaris treatment globally and 
the first topical minocycline with priority review designation to obtain marketing approval from the NMPA. It 
can be used for pediatric and adult patients aged nine years and older.

– CU-40102 (topical finasteride spray): The NDA for CU-40102 was accepted by the NMPA in January 2024. 
In April 2024, the NDA for CU-40102 was submitted to the Hong Kong Department of Health. CU-40102 is 
the first and only topical finasteride product approved for androgenetic alopecia treatment globally and is 
also the first topical finasteride to have its NDA accepted by the NMPA.

– CU-30101 (localized topical lidocaine and tetracaine cream): The drug marketing authorization application 
for CU-30101 was accepted by the NMPA in July 2024. CU-30101 is a localized lidocaine and tetracaine 
compound topical anesthesia cream for surface dermatologic operations. It was as effective as its control and 
reference drug Pliaglis® lidocaine and tetracaine cream in analgesia and demonstrated an overall favorable 
safety profile.

– CU-20401 (recombinant mutant collagenase): In December 2024, we completed a Phase II clinical trial for 
submental adipose accumulation in China. CU-20401 demonstrated significant and robust efficacy advantages 
with favorable safety profile.

– CU-10101 (topical novel small molecule agent): In September 2024, CU-10101 has completed the first 
patient enrollment in the Phase I clinical trial for the treatment of mild to moderate atopic dermatitis.

– Manufacturing facilities: Cutia Wuxi, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has obtained the “Drug 
Manufacturing Certificate (藥品生產許可證)” issued by the Jiangsu Medical Products Administration in April 
2024.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
OVERVIEW
Founded in 2019, we are an R&D-driven, dermatology-focused biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing 
comprehensive solutions that are tailored to meet the diverse and evolving needs of patients and consumers in 
the broader dermatology treatment and care market. We had built a broad portfolio of products, targeting the 
four main sectors of the broader dermatology treatment and care market, namely scalp diseases and care, skin 
diseases and care, topical anesthesia and localized adipose accumulation management. We also distributed several 
commercialized products developed by overseas collaboration partners and marketed several products in China.

We are one of the few players in the broader dermatology treatment and care market in China equipped with fully 
integrated capabilities. We have applied a customer-centric approach to bolster our product candidates and expand 
our integrated capabilities to the entire broader dermatology treatment and care industry value chain. Our platform 
spans from the early phase of identifying demands, developing core technologies, managing clinical trials and 
product registrations, to the manufacturing and marketing of products.

Our proprietary CATAME® technology platform improves drugs to achieve topical or transdermal delivery by 
developing micron and nano-sized particulates, as well as evaluating formulation quality and stability, and performing 
cutaneous pharmacokinetic analysis. Our platform also helps design the most suitable product formats that are 
keys to specific and successful drug delivery. Through this platform, we have built a competitive product pipeline 
of creams, sprays, ointments, aerosol foams and other dosage forms.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BUSINESS REVIEW
As at the date of this report, we have achieved the following significant advancements in both pipeline products 
and business operations.

Scalp Diseases and Care

Key Product CU-40102 (topical finasteride spray)

– CU-40102 is the first and only topical finasteride product approved for androgenetic alopecia treatment globally 
and the first topical finasteride to have its NDA accepted by the NMPA. Finasteride can treat androgenetic 
alopecia in male patients by acting as a competitive and specific inhibitor of Type II 5-alpha reductase to 
inhibit the conversion of testosterone to DHT in the scalp.

– Unlike oral finasteride, CU-40102’s topical formulation allows patients to apply the drug directly to the surface 
of the scalp, thereby maintaining a high concentration at the affected site and reducing the systemic exposure 
of the drug compared with oral formulations.

– The NDA for CU-40102 was accepted by the NMPA in January 2024 and we submitted the NDA to the Hong 
Kong Department of Health in April 2024.

– The NDA for CU-40102 was primarily based on the results of its Phase I and Phase III registration clinical 
trials completed in China. The clinical trials demonstrated that CU-40102 was effective in treating androgenetic 
alopecia and also showed favorable local tolerance to the administration area.

Skin Diseases and Care

Key Product CU-10201 (topical 4% minocycline foam)

– CU-10201 is the first and only topical minocycline approved for acne vulgaris treatment globally and the 
first topical minocycline with priority review designation to obtain marketing approval from the NMPA. The 
indication of CU-10201 is for the treatment of non-nodular moderate to severe acne vulgaris in pediatric and 
adult patients aged nine years and older.

– Minocycline is a tetracycline antibiotic used to treat a number of bacterial infections and acne vulgaris. The 
currently available minocycline products are mostly oral medications. Compared to other major anti-acne 
antibiotics and conventional oral drugs, topical minocycline foam has lower systemic drug exposure, fewer 
side effects, lower rate of drug resistance, and likely higher patient compliance.

– CU-10201 obtained marketing approval from the NMPA in November 2024, and we are currently actively 
preparing for its commercialization in China.

– The approval of CU-10201 was primarily based on the results of a Phase III registrational clinical trial 
completed in China. The clinical trial demonstrated that CU-10201 has a significant efficacy and a favorable 
safety profile in the treatment of acne.
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CU-10101 (topical novel small molecule agent)

– CU-10101 is a non-hormonal, small molecule drug for the treatment of mild to moderate atopic dermatitis. 
The non-hormonal properties of CU-10101 may reduce the side effects and restrictions associated with 
corticosteroids and its localized topical formulation allows the medication to reach the affected areas directly.

– The IND application of CU-10101 was approved by the CDE in May 2024, and we completed the first patient 
enrollment in Phase I clinical trial of CU-10101 in China in September 2024.

Topical Anesthesia

CU-30101 (localized topical lidocaine and tetracaine cream)

– CU-30101 is a localized lidocaine and tetracaine compound topical anesthesia cream for surface dermatologic 
operations. The formulation of lidocaine and tetracaine combination in CU-30101 may produce rapid and 
long-lasting anesthetic effects due to its ingredients’ unique pharmacokinetic properties.

– Lidocaine diffuses more rapidly, and more extensively than tetracaine, whereas tetracaine, a long-acting 
localized anesthetic amino acid ester, is more lipophilic than lidocaine and can be concentrated in the topical 
stratum corneum. Systemic absorption of the anesthetic component ingredients is also limited from the topical 
cream formulation.

– The Phase III clinical trial of CU-30101 in China was completed in January 2024 and its drug marketing 
authorization application was accepted by the NMPA in July 2024.

– The drug marketing authorization application for CU-30101 was primarily based on the results of its Phase 
III registration clinical trial completed in China. The clinical trial showed that CU-30101 was as effective as 
its control and reference drug Pliaglis® lidocaine and tetracaine cream in analgesia and demonstrated an 
overall favorable safety profile.

Localized Adipose Accumulation Management

Core Product CU-20401 (recombinant mutant collagenase)

– CU-20401 is a recombinant mutant collagenase that targets localized adipose accumulation associated 
metabolic diseases. CU-20401 adopts an alternative mechanism of action where it acts as a collagenase 
to selectively act on the extracellular matrix attached to adipose tissue. After localized injection, CU-20401 
degrades extracellular matrix collagen in the subcutaneous fat layer which leads to apoptosis of adipocytes, 
and is expected to effectively reduce localized adipose accumulation.

– CU-20401 is technologically modified with reduced rate to catalyze the collagen degradation with mild catalytic 
activity, thus reducing the adverse effects of wild-type collagenase, such as bruising and pain.

– In December 2024, we completed the Phase II clinical trial for submental adipose accumulation in China, and 
we expect to obtain its regulatory approval for commercialization in China in 2028. In the Phase II clinical trial, 
CU-20401 demonstrated significant and robust efficacy advantages with favorable safety profile. In terms of 
efficacy, the treatment efficacy of different dose of CU-20401 was superior to that of the placebo group, with 
statistically significant differences in efficacy. During the follow-up period, as the follow-up time extended, the 
treatment efficacy of CU-20401 at different doses showed more significant improvement compared to baseline, 
and the treatment benefits were also greater than those of the placebo group. Preliminary observations from 
the clinical trial also indicated a dose-response trend. In terms of safety, the overall safety profile of CU-
20401 was favorable, with no dosage-related differences in the incidence rate or severity level of adverse 
events observed.
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Warning: There is no assurance that the Core Product and each of the pipeline products will ultimately be 
successfully developed and marketed by the Company. Shareholders and potential investors of the Company are 
advised to exercise caution when dealing in the Shares.

Commercialization

We have adopted a well-tailored commercialization strategy to penetrate the broader dermatology treatment and care 
market in China. Our dedicated marketing team, equipped with strong market insights and marketing capabilities, is 
able to respond quickly to market changes. Online marketing is always one of our strategic priorities, and we continue 
to deliver outstanding marketing output through online marketing campaigns on various e-commerce platforms and 
social media platforms such as Tmall, JD, Bilibili, Douyin, Zhihu and Xiaohongshu. In addition, our self-operated 
customer service team provides customers with professional and suitable product supports to optimize customer 
experience, increase repurchase rate and strengthen brand stickiness. Meanwhile, to align with the product approval 
timeline, we have proactively established our commercialization team in advance, and have successfully developed 
partnerships with hundreds of institutions and hundreds of hospitals across China.

2024 was our second full year of commercialization. Relying on our strong product capabilities, sales and operational 
strengths, we continued to launch blockbuster products into the market and maintained excellent online sales 
performance. During the “618 campaign”, our products recorded GMV exceeding RMB56 million, representing a 
growth of 500% year-over-year. During the “11.11 campaign”, our products recorded GMV exceeding RMB110 
million, which is double the GMV of the “618 campaign”. Sales volume of our scalp diseases and care products 
continued to increase, with standout performances from individual products (among them, sales volume of CUP-
MNDE (“Bailleul®” minoxidil spray) was ranked Top 1 on Tmall in the category of cross-border minoxidil). The 
proportion of revenue from our other scalp diseases and care products continued to increase. We continuously 
launch new products into the market, thereby further enhancing our product portfolio of “HAIRGEOGRA®”. We were 
also dedicated to building and strengthening long-term trust with consumers, the repurchase rate and conversion 
rate for customer service continued to be higher than the industry average. Among our skin care products, “Phyto-C” 
O-Live series products accounted for more than 70% of the sales volume of our skin care products. Apart from 
Tmall, the proportion of other interest-based e-commerce channels (including Douyin, Xiaohongshu, etc.) continues 
to expand and maintain rapid growth, driving a significant year-on-year increase in their revenue contribution in 
2024. The skin care products, alongside scalp diseases and care products, have emerged as dual engines fueling 
the Group’s revenue growth.

Our comprehensive commercialized product portfolio could address distinctive demands from a wide range of 
population groups as their needs evolve with disease progression or improvement, thereby gaining customer 
stickiness. From pre-sales product consultations, in-use guidance, to post-sales feedback collection, our in-house 
customer service team provides professional guidance and emotional supports tailored to customers’ specific needs 
throughout the entire product usage cycle. This approach not only optimizes the customer experience but also 
further enhances product repurchase rate and brand recognition.

Manufacturing Facilities

Our commercial-scale GMP manufacturing facilities with three drug product production lines in Jiangsu province 
have commenced operation in 2023. The three production lines cover topical cream, ointment, aerosol, and foam 
products. The flow and control of the entire manufacturing process are designed to be compliant with the latest 
GMP requirements, ensuring that our production can meet the clinical and marketing approval requirements of 
various drug regulatory authorities (including the NMPA, FDA and European Medicines Agency). We believe the 
production capacity of such manufacturing facilities can support our clinical trials and near-term commercialization 
plans for our drug candidates.
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In addition, Cutia Wuxi, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has obtained the “Drug Manufacturing Certificate 
(藥品生產許可證)” issued by the Jiangsu Medical Products Administration in April 2024, which is expected to play a 
long-term constructive role in production capacity expansion and market development of the Company, thus laying 
the foundation for subsequent commercialization of our product candidates.

KEY EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this report, there are no significant events affecting the Group occurred since the Reporting 
Period and up to the date of this report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
We are dedicated to providing consumers and patients with safe and comprehensive dermatology treatment 
and care solutions. In 2024, our CU-10201 (topical 4% minocycline foam) obtained marketing approval from the 
NMPA. Looking ahead to 2025, we will continue to strengthen the commercialization activities of CU-10201 in 
China, enabling patients and consumers to access our products at the earliest opportunity. By leveraging our 
established online channels and pre-arranged offline channels, we aim to expedite the rapid market expansion of 
our products. This not only significantly enhances our brand recognition but also substantially elevates the influence 
and competitiveness of our products. Our CU-40102 (topical finasteride spray) and CU-30101 (localized topical 
lidocaine and tetracaine cream) are anticipated to receive regulatory approval for commercialization in China. In 
preparation for these milestones, we are proactively coordinating market launch initiatives to ensure seamless 
connectivity to our existing sales platforms while expanding our sales network more extensively. These efforts will 
allow us to deliver a comprehensive portfolio of products that address the changing and diverse therapeutic needs 
of patients and consumers.

CU-20401 (recombinant mutant collagenase) has demonstrated favorable safety and efficacy profiles in its Phase II 
clinical trial conducted in China. Based on the positive outcomes of the Phase II clinical trial, the Group will further 
explore CU-20401’s therapeutic advantages and expedite the progression to Phase III clinical trial. Furthermore, 
the Group will fully leverage its R&D strengths to systematically promote the clinical progress of the remaining 
pipeline candidates.

We are optimistic on the market potential of the online and offline channels and adhere to our core marketing 
strategy of online and offline marketing while exploring online-to-offline marketing combinations and leverage the 
synergistic advantages of multiple products to drive robust overall sales growth. We will continue to strengthen our 
sales capabilities and actively develop online marketing campaigns on various e-commerce platforms and social 
media platforms to increase brand awareness. In addition, we will work closely with renowned physicians to conduct 
product demonstrations and trainings.

Leveraging on our CATAME® technology platform, our integrated commercialization model, in-depth industry 
experience and the determination of our team, we believe we can seize the opportunities arising from the rapid 
expansion of China’s sales network, provide innovative solutions for patients and generate higher returns for our 
Shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our revenue was substantially generated from the sale of our in-licensed and distributed scalp diseases and care 
products, as well as certain skin care products (“Routine Skin Care Products”).

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately 103.2% from approximately RMB137.6 million for the year ended 
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB279.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was primarily 
due to an increase in sales of scalp diseases and care products and Routine Skin Care Products.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of purchase costs and logistics costs related to our scalp diseases and care 
products and Routine Skin Care Products. For the year ended 31 December 2024, we recorded cost of sales of 
approximately RMB136.2 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB69.6 million from approximately 
RMB66.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such increase was in line with our business growth.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit represents our revenue less our cost of sales. Gross profit margin represents our gross profit as a 
percentage of our revenue. Our gross profit amounted to approximately RMB143.5 million for the year ended 31 
December 2024, representing an increase of approximately 102.0% from approximately RMB71.0 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2023. Our gross profit margin keeps stable at approximately 51% for the year ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

Other Income and Gains

Our other income primarily consisted of interest income and government grants. The government grants mainly 
represent subsidies received from local government authorities for the purpose of compensation for our operating 
activities. Our interest income comprised (i) bank interest income; (ii) deemed interest income from loans to 
employees and related parties; and (iii) imputed interest income on rental and other deposits. Other income 
decreased by approximately 49.5% from approximately RMB36.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 
approximately RMB18.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was primarily due to (i) a decrease 
in the receipt of the government grants from the PRC local government authorities to support certain operating 
activities; and (ii) a decrease in our bank interest income resulting from the decrease of our cash and cash 
equivalents and time deposits over three months.

Our gains primarily consisted of (i) net foreign exchange gains, resulting from the appreciation of the U.S. dollar 
against RMB as our cash and cash equivalents and time deposits over three months denominated in the U.S. 
dollars; and (ii) our fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Other gains 
increased by approximately 4.4% from approximately RMB23.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 
approximately RMB24.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was primarily due to an increase in 
fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses consisted of staff costs, share-based payments expenses, marketing expenses 
and others. Our selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately 26.6% from approximately RMB208.3 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB263.7 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024, which was primarily due to an increase in staff costs and marketing expenses resulting from the expansion 
in online marketing activities on e-commerce and social media platforms to further drive our online direct sales.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs consisted of staff costs, share-based payment expenses, acquisition/
licensing-in expenses, third-party contracting costs, depreciation and amortization and others. For the year ended 
31 December 2024, we recorded research and development costs of approximately RMB199.0 million, representing 
a decrease of approximately 7.7% as compared to approximately RMB215.7 million for the corresponding period 
2023, which was primarily due to (i) a decrease in the share-based payment expenses resulting from the vesting of 
a portion of share options and restricted share units under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan; and (ii) a decrease 
in third-party contracting expenses in line with the achievement of key milestones.

Set out below are the components of research and development costs for the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Staff costs 53,671 49,731
Share-based payment expenses 20,444 41,423
Acquisition/licensing-in expenses 39,593 23,198
Third-party contracting costs 49,957 63,905
Depreciation and amortization 23,893 22,801
Others 11,487 14,653

Total 199,045 215,711

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses consisted of staff costs, share-based payment expenses, consulting fees, depreciation 
and amortization and others. Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 23.7% from approximately 
RMB185.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB141.9 million for the year ended 31 
December 2024, which was primarily due to the decrease in the share-based payment expenses resulting from the 
vesting of a portion of share options and restricted share units under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan.
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Set out below are the components of administrative expenses for the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Staff costs 51,888 47,972
Share-based payment expenses 36,831 72,990
Consulting fees 16,071 18,840
Depreciation and amortization 17,317 18,073
Others 19,766 28,015

Total 141,873 185,890   

Fair Value Losses on Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares

Our fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares decreased from approximately RMB1,454.3 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to nil for the year ended 31 December 2024, due to the conversion of all of 
our convertible redeemable preferred shares upon listing.

Finance costs

Our finance costs mainly included interests on bank loans and lease liabilities. Finance costs increased from 
approximately RMB4.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB10.9 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2024, which was primarily due to the increase in bank loans obtained to finance daily operation.

Income Tax Expenses

Our income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 was nil (for the year ended 31 December 2023: nil).

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a loss of approximately RMB433.8 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024, representing a decrease of approximately RMB1,530.0 million from approximately RMB1,963.8 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement our consolidated financial statements which are presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards, we also use adjusted net loss for the year, a non-IFRS measure to present our operating performance. 
Adjusted net loss for the year, as an additional financial measure, is not required by, or presented in accordance 
with IFRS Accounting Standards. We believe that such non-IFRS measure facilitates comparisons of our operating 
performance from year to year by eliminating impacts of non-cash or non-recurring items that our management 
considers to be not indicative of our operating performance and provides useful information to Shareholders and 
investors to evaluate our operating results in the same manner as our management does. However, our presentation 
of the adjusted net loss for the year may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other 
companies, including peer companies, and therefore their comparability may be limited. The use of such non-IFRS 
measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and Shareholders and investors should not consider it in isolation, 
or as substitute for analysis of, our results of operations or financial position as reported under IFRS Accounting 
Standards. We define adjusted net loss for the year as loss for the year adjusted by adding back (i) fair value losses 
on convertible redeemable preferred shares; (ii) share-based payment expenses; and (iii) listing expenses. We 
continued to optimize its operating efficiency, and the proportion of adjusted net loss to revenue further narrowed.
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The following table reconciles our non-IFRS adjusted net loss for the period with our loss for the periods indicated:

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss for the year (433,811) (1,963,758)

Add:
Fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares – 1,454,280
Share-based payment expenses 68,615 132,350
Listing expenses – 25,245

Non-IFRS adjusted net loss for the year (Notes) (365,196) (351,883)

Proportion of non-IFRS adjusted net loss to
 revenue for the year (1.31) (2.56)   

Notes:

(i) Fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares arises due to the conversion of all the convertible redeemable 
preferred shares of the Company upon listing, which management believes is a non-cash item.

(ii) Share-based payment expenses relates to the share options and restricted share units granted by the Company under its 
equity incentive plans, which the management considers that to be a non-cash item.

(iii) Listing expenses related to the global offering is considered a non-recurring item by management.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our primary uses of cash were to fund (i) R&D activities of our product candidates; and (ii) our daily operation and 
commercial promotion activities. We financed our operations primarily through equity financing, bank borrowings and 
cash generated from sale of our in-licensed and distributed certain scalp diseases and care products and certain 
skin care products. We monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance our 
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Currently, we follow a set of funding and treasury 
policies to manage our capital resources and mitigate potential risks involved.

As of 31 December 2024, our total cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately RMB385.7 million, 
representing a decrease of approximately 18.5% as compared to approximately RMB473.1 million as of 31 December 
2023. Such decrease was primarily due to expenditures on research and development, selling and distribution and 
other operating activities.

As of 31 December 2024, our time deposits over three months amounted to approximately RMB10.5 million, 
representing a decrease of approximately 96.8% as compared to approximately RMB330.2 million as of 31 December 
2023. Such decrease was primarily in relation to the maturity of our time deposits.

As of 31 December 2024, our financial assets at FVTPL amounted to approximately RMB480.0 million, representing 
an increase of approximately 2.3% as compared to approximately RMB469.3 million as of 31 December 2023, 
primarily due to the fair value gain during the year.

As of 31 December 2024, current assets of the Group amounted to approximately RMB1,087.1 million, including cash 
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB385.7 million. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately 
RMB323.3 million, including interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately RMB213.3 million.

Details of the maturity profile of interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 23 
to the financial statements.
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Indebtedness

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings as of the 
dates indicated:

As of As of
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities 57,636 54,344
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 263,303 189,411   

Except as discussed above, we did not have any other material mortgages, charges, debentures, loan capital, 
debt securities, loans, bank overdrafts or other similar indebtedness, finance lease or hire purchase commitments, 
liabilities under acceptance (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits, which are either guaranteed, 
unguaranteed, secured or unsecured, or guarantees or other contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2024.

Gearing Ratio

As of 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio was 30.0%, as compared with 21.0% as at 31 December 2023. The 
increase was primarily due to the increase in interest-bearing bank borrowings in 2024. Gearing ratio is calculated 
by dividing total liabilities by total assets multiplying the product by 100%.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposal

On 13 June and 16 June 2023, the Company had subscribed for the wealth management products in the aggregate 
amount of US$63,840,000 offered by different funds. Each of the wealth management products is characterized 
by its nature of principal-and-return-guaranteed, and the Subscriptions were funded by the Group’s surplus cash 
reserves for treasury management purpose in order to maximize its return on the surplus capital. For further details, 
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 August 2023.

The following are the details of the performance of the wealth management products held by the Group with size 
relative to the total assets of the Group above or equal 5% as of 31 December 2024:

Relevant fund
Subscription
date

Principal
amount of

subscription

Realised
gain

during the
Reporting

Period

Unrealised
gain

during the
Reporting

Period

Fair value
as at

31 December
2024

Size relative
to the total

assets of
the Group

as of
31 December

2024
(USD’000) (USD’000) (USD’000) (USD’000) (%)

Alpha Generation 13 June 2023 14,200 - 427 14,855 8
Innovation Prosperity 13 June 2023 14,200 - 427 14,855 8
Oriental Kylin 13 June 2023 14,200 - 427 14,855 8
Summit View 16 June 2023 14,400 - 433 15,053 8

Save as disclosed above, we did not hold any significant investments as defined under the Listing Rules, and we 
did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year ended 
31 December 2024.
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Capital Commitments

As of 31 December 2024, we have capital commitment of RMB5.0 million for the contracts in relation to acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets (as of 31 December 2023: RMB3.2 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As of 31 December 2024, we did not have any material contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation against 
us (as of 31 December 2023: nil).

Pledge of Assets

As of 31 December 2024, we did not pledge or charge any assets (as of 31 December 2023: nil).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations 
in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies in which our Group conducts business may affect our financial 
condition and results of operation. The Group mainly operates in the PRC and is exposed to foreign exchange risk 
arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Hong Kong dollars and the U.S. dollars. The 
conversion of foreign currencies into RMB, including Hong Kong dollars and the U.S. dollars, has been based on 
rates set by the People’s Bank of China. The Group primarily limits our exposure to foreign currency risk by closely 
monitoring the foreign exchange market. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not enter into 
any currency hedging transactions.

Employees and Remuneration

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 333 employees. The total remuneration cost of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB219.3 million, as compared to approximately RMB260.7 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily due to the decrease in share-based payment 
expenses. The following table sets forth the total number of employees by function as of 31 December 2024:

Percentage
Function Number of total

R&D 49 14.7%
Manufacturing and Quality Control 57 17.1%
Medical and Regulatory Affairs 46 13.8%
Sales, Marketing and Administration 181 54.4%

Total 333 100.0%

The remuneration of the employees of our Group comprises salaries, bonuses, employees’ provident fund, 
share-based payment, and social security contributions and other welfare payments. In accordance with applicable 
laws and regulations, we made contributions to social security insurance funds (including pension plans, medical 
insurance, work-related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity insurance) and housing funds for 
the Group’s employees. Two equity incentive plans, namely Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan and Post-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan were adopted by the Company to incentivize and reward our employees and to align their interests 
with that of the Company.
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Use of Proceeds

The Group received net proceeds (after deduction of underwriting commissions and related costs and expenses) 
from the global offering of approximately HK$392.7 million (equivalent to approximately RMB356.8 million). Such 
net proceeds were used, and are proposed to be used accordingly to the intentions previously disclosed in the 
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus of the Company. As of 31 December 2024, 
such net proceeds were utilized as follows:

Amount of
net proceeds

for planned
applications

Percentage
of total

net proceeds

Unutilized
net proceeds

as of
1 January

2024

Utilized
net proceeds

during the
year ended 

31 December 
2024

Utilized
net proceeds

as of
31 December

2024

Unutilized
net proceeds

as of
31 December

2024

Expected 
time frame

for unutilized 
amount

Use of proceeds from the listing (HK$ million) (%) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)

For the Core Product

1. For funding the costs and expenses in connection with R&D 
personnel as well as continuing R&D activities of CU-20401 164.9 42.0 147.3 43.2 60.8 104.1

by the end 
 of 2029

2. For the local production of CU-20401 in Chinese Mainland 11.8 3.0 11.8 – – 11.8
by the end 
 of 2029

For the Key Products

1. For funding the costs and expenses in connection with R&D 
personnel as well as continuing R&D activities of CU-40102 and 
CU-10201 43.2 11.0 15.8 5.0 32.4 10.8

by the end 
 of 2026

2. For milestone payments of CU-10201 43.2 11.0 43.2 8.0 8.0 35.2
by the end 
 of 2026

For the other candidates in the pipeline

1. For the continuing R&D activities of CU-40101, CU-40103, CU-
40104 and other potential scalp diseases and care products 28.3 7.2 10.6 3.3 21.0 7.3

by the end 
 of 2028

2. For the continuing R&D activities of CU-10101, CU-10401 and other 
potential skin diseases and care products 28.3 7.2 19.1 2.8 12.0 16.3

by the end 
 of 2028

3. For the continuing R&D activities of CU-30101 14.1 3.6 – – 14.1 –

For technology development and
 business development for pipeline expansion 39.3 10.0 14.7 4.6 29.2 10.1

by the end 
 of 2025

For our working capital and
 other general corporate purposes 19.6 5.0 – – 19.6 –

Total 392.7 100.0 262.5 66.9 197.1 195.6
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Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last three financial years (Note) is 
set out below:

For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 279,615 137,623 11,366
Gross profit 143,463 71,008 7,938
Loss for the year (433,811) (1,963,758) (555,836)

As at 31 December
2024 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 385,670 473,120 465,866
Total non-current assets 306,120 290,481 301,380
Total current assets 1,087,121 1,416,316 1,145,425
Total current liabilities 323,251 254,788 77,402
Total non-current liabilities 95,260 102,970 2,615,719
Total equity/(deficits) 974,730 1,349,039 (1,246,316)

Note: The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules on 12 June 
2023.
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Corporate Governance Report
The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate governance of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND STRATEGY
The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This 
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency 
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that Shareholder’s value will be maximized in the long term 
and that its employees, those with whom it does business, and the communities in which it operates, will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs 
with a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust 
corporate governance practices that are intended to ensure:

– satisfactory and sustainable returns to the Shareholders;

– that the interests of those who deal with the Company are safeguarded;

– that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;

– the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction of customers; and

– that high standards of ethics are maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and 
has complied with all applicable code provisions for the year ended 31 December 2024.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. 
Having made specific enquiries with all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has complied with the 
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant 
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes responsibility for its leadership and control, and it is 
collectively responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. 
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the 
Company’s business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to perform his responsibilities 
to the Company and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are commensurate with 
their role and the Board responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition of executive Directors and 
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong independent 
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board currently comprises the following:

Executive Directors

Ms. Zhang Lele (張樂樂)
Mr. Huang Yuqing (黃雨青)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chen Lian Yong (陳連勇) (Chairman)
Dr. Xie Qin (謝沁)
Dr. Huang Xiao (黃瀟)
Ms. Yang Yunxia (楊雲霞)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Ming Kit (鍾明杰)
Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis (陶德仁)
Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang (葉曉翔)

The biographical information of the Directors including the relationships among the members of the Board are set 
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business or family relationship among the members 
of the Board.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS
The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least four times a year. Directors may 
participate in meeting either in person or through electronic means of communication. All Directors are given not 
less than 14 days’ notice for regular Board meetings. For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable 
notice will be given.

The agenda and the accompanying meeting papers are sent in full to all Directors or relevant committee members 
at least three working days before the date of meetings (or such other period as the members may agree). The 
Directors are allowed to include into the draft agenda any additional matters that they wish to discuss and resolve 
at this meeting.

Minutes of each Board and Board committees’ meeting record in sufficient details the matters considered, and 
decisions made, including any concerns or views of the Directors or the relevant committee members or dissenting 
views expressed. Final version of minutes is circulated to all Directors or committee members for their perusal prior 
to confirmation of the minutes at the subsequent Board or Board committees’ meeting. The Directors or committee 
members may request for clarification or raise comments before the minutes are tabled for confirmation. Upon 
receiving confirmation from the Directors or committee members, the minutes will be signed by the chairman of the 
meeting as a correct record of the proceedings of the meeting and kept by the accounts department of the Company, 
and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice given by any Director or committee member.

A summary of the attendance records of Directors at the Board meetings held for the year ended 31 December 
2024 is set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Director Board
Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Annual 
General Meeting

Executive Directors
Ms. Zhang Lele 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Huang Yuqing 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Non-executive Directors
Dr. Chen Lian Yong 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Dr. Xie Qin 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Dr. Huang Xiao 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Ms. Yang Yunxia 2/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Ming Kit 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis 4/4 3/3 N/A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang 4/4 3/3 1/1 N/A 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board also held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of executive Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND 
MANAGEMENT
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company; and is collectively responsible 
for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction to management by laying 
down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, 
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide 
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective 
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory 
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on 
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and may, upon request, seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their 
duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal 
control and risk management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial 
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities 
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management 
of the Company are delegated to the management.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Permitted Indemnity” in the section headed “Directors’ Report” of this annual 
report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate 
and should not be performed by the same individual. The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are 
held by Dr. Chen Lian Yong and Ms. Zhang Lele respectively, thus we have complied with code provision C.2.1. 
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer has been clearly established.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to 
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one 
of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors in 
respect of his/her independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
The Company has established a board independence evaluation mechanism (the “Board Independence Evaluation 
Mechanism”) during the year which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure a strong independent 
element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard the 
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness, maximize strengths, and identify the areas 
that need improvement or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company 
need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and 
development needs of each Director.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. The 
Board ensures the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors and at least one-third of its 
members being independent non-executive directors. Further, independent non-executive directors will be appointed 
to Board Committees are require under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent views 
and input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the independent assessment criteria as set 
out in the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent non-executive directors, and 
is mandated to assess annually the independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that they can 
continually exercise independent judgment.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board will conduct annual review on its 
independence. The board independence evaluation report will be presented to the Board which will collectively 
discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors has completed the independence evaluation individually. 
The board independence evaluation report was presented to the Board and the evaluation results were satisfactory.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term of 
three years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of 
Association and the nomination policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing 
the Board composition, assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and making 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

Mrs. Zhang Lele, Mr. Huang Yuqing and Dr. Xie Qin are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual 
general meetings. Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors 
for the time being (or, if the number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) 
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 
once every three years. The Articles of Association also provides that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a 
casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and 
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall be eligible for re-election at the next following 
annual general meeting. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to effectively perform their 
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her 
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness 
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Pursuant to the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code, all Directors should participate in appropriate 
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their 
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors, namely Ms. Zhang Lele, Mr. Huang Yuqing, Dr. Chen 
Lian Yong, Dr. Xie Qin, Dr. Huang Xiao, Ms. Yang Yunxia, Mr. Chung Ming Kit, Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis and Mr. 
Ye Xiaoxiang, have attended training sessions, including but not limited to briefings, seminars, conferences and 
workshops. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics 
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses 
at the Company’s expenses.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”), for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s 
affairs. All Board Committees of the Company are established with specific written terms of reference which deal 
clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board Committees are posted on the Company’s 
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to the Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board Committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on page 2.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. 
Chung Ming Kit, Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis and Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang. Mr. Chung Ming Kit is the chairman of the Audit 
Committee.

The term of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The 
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting 
process, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit 
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns 
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and external auditor the accounting principles 
and policies adopted by the Company and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

Three meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year ended 31 December 2024, to review the 
consolidated financial statements, and annual and interim report before submission to the Board for approval; and 
review any significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang (independent non-executive 
Director), Mr. Chung Ming Kit (independent non-executive Director) and Dr. Chen Lian Yong (non-executive Director). 
Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The term of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG 
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make recommendation to the Board on 
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management, the remuneration policy and 
structure for all Directors and senior management, as well as to establish transparent procedures for developing 
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in 
deciding his/her own remuneration.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the year ended 31 December 2024, to review the 
remuneration package and assess performance and bonus distribution of the executive Director.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration (including basic salary, pensions, performance/
discretionary bonus and equity-settled share-based payment) of the senior management (other than the Directors) 
whose particulars are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, for 
the Reporting Period by band is set out below:

Annual Remuneration Number of Individuals

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 1
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 1
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 1

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration offered to employees, including Directors and 
senior management, is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The 
remuneration packages of executive Directors are also determined with reference to the Company’s performance 
and profitability, the prevailing market conditions and the performance or contribution of each executive Director. 
The remuneration for the executive Directors comprises basic salary, pensions, performance/discretionary bonus 
and equity-settled share-based payment. Executive Directors shall receive the Company’s equity-settled share-
based payment, and non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors shall not receive it. The 
remuneration policy for independent non-executive Directors is to ensure that independent non-executive Directors 
are adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs, including their participation 
in Board Committees. The remuneration for the independent non-executive Directors mainly comprises Director’s 
fee which is determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the Board. Individual Directors and 
senior management have not been involved in deciding their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee also made recommendations to the Board on the terms of service contracts or letters 
of appointment of the new executive/non-executive/independent non-executive Directors appointed during the year.

No material matters relating to share schemes (as defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules) were required to 
be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting Period.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Dr. Chen Lian Yong (non-executive Director), Mr. 
Chung Ming Kit (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis (independent non-executive 
Director). Dr. Chen Lian Yong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG 
Code. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition, developing and 
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of the Directors, making recommendations to 
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of the Directors, reviewing the board diversity policy (the 
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the director nomination policy (the “Director Nomination Policy”) and assessing 
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects as well 
as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would 
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend 
them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the 
candidate’s relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to complement the 
corporate strategy and achieve the Board diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during the year ended 31 December 2024, to review the 
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, monitor the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors for the purpose of the Listing Rules, monitor and review the Group’s diversity and inclusion development; 
and recommend to the Board on the re-election of Director at the 2024 AGM.

The Nomination Committee is to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the independence of 
the independent non-executive Directors, and to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting, to review the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy and to 
consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment of executive/non-executive/independent non-executive 
Directors. The Nomination Committee considers an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is 
maintained and has not set any measurable objective when implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and 
maintain diversity of the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. The Company recognizes and 
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential 
element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee reviews regularly, at a minimum on an annual 
basis, the structure, size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes 
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced 
diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is committed 
to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s 
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the 
Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.
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The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such 
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving 
those objectives.

In addition, in terms of gender diversity, the Board also currently has three female members. The Board places 
strong emphasis on diversity (including but not limited to gender diversity) at the Board level and across all levels of 
the Company. Taking into account the Board’s view that the current Board composition satisfies the Board Diversity 
Policy, the Board targets to maintain at least current level of female representation in the Board. In considering the 
Board’s succession, the Board will deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable director candidates, including 
referral from Directors, shareholders, employee and the management of the Company. These measures will ensure 
that the Board will be able to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board, such that the Board will be 
able to take the opportunity to further increase the diversity on the Board (including but not limited to the proportion 
of female members of the Board) as and when such opportunity arise and suitable candidates are identified, taking 
in account the selection criteria as outlined under the paragraph “Director Nomination Policy” below.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of six male directors and three female directors, namely Ms. Zhang 
Lele, Dr. Xie Qin and Ms. Yang Yunxia, which brings diversity to the Board and the Board will continue to maintain 
the current level. The Board is also characterized by significant diversity, in particular, in term of professional 
expertise and experience, age, culture and ethnicity. An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the 
measurable objectives is set out below:

Gender Age Group
Male: 6 Directors 31-40: 2 Directors
Female: 3 Directors 41-50: 5 Directors

51-60: 1 Director
61-70: 1 Director

Designation Educational Background
Executive Directors: 2 Directors Pharmaceutical preparations: 1 Director
Non-executive Directors: 4 Directors Communication: 1 Director
Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors Science: 2 Directors

Clinical medicine: 2 Directors
Accounting: 1 Director
Arts: 1 Director
Law: 1 Director

Nationality Business Experience
Chinese: 8 Directors Accounting: 1 Director
United States: 1 Director Experience related to the business: 8 Directors

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that the current composition of the Board has achieved 
the objectives set in the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio 
in the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date of the Reporting Period:

Female Male

Board 33.3% (3) 66.7% (6)
Senior Management 42.9% (3) 57.1% (4)
Other employees 60.7% (198) 39.3% (128)

Overall workforce 60.4% (201) 39.6% (132)

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least 33.3% (3) of female Directors, 42.9% (3) of female 
senior management and 60.7% (198) of female employees of the Company and considers that the above current 
gender diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Company together with relevant data can be found in the Company’s 2024 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and appointment of Directors to the 
Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out the selection criteria and nomination process 
and the Board succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of the Directors and 
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the 
Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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The nomination process set out in the Director Nomination Policy is as follows:

Appointment of New Director

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select candidates for directorship from various channels, 
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other member of the management 
and external recruitment agents.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new 
Director and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate 
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should 
rank them by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate 
(where applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for 
directorship, as applicable.

(v) For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as a Director at the general meeting of the 
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria 
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in 
respect of the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the overall contribution and service to the 
Company of the retiring Director and the level of participation and performance on the Board.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review and determine whether the retiring Director 
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make recommendation to the Shareholders in 
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate as Director at the general meeting, the 
relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory 
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or 
applicable laws and regulations.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the 
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

• Character and integrity;
• Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the 

Company’s business and corporate strategy;
• Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational 

background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;
• Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board and independence of the proposed 

independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and
• Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board 

and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change in the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board met once to review the Company’s corporate governance policies 
and practices, training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management, the 
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the 
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their 
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing 
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective 
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assist the Board in leading the management and overseeing the design, implementation and 
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management procedures and guidelines with defined 
authority for implementation by key business processes and office functions, including project management, sales 
and leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have been developed with the following principles, 
features and processes:
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The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for overseeing the management of risk management and 
internal control of the Company.

• Risk Management

The Risk Management Committee of the Company is responsible for assessing the risks of each functional 
department, business unit and subsidiary; the Audit Department assists the Risk Management Committee in 
reviewing the Company’s risks and is the risk audit monitoring department.

Each quarter, the Risk Management Committee formulates risk information collection requirements in light 
of the development objectives and business practices of the company. And then, the committee will identify 
and provides feedback from specific responsible departments on the strategic risks, financial risks, market 
risks, operational risks and legal risks faced or potentially faced by the Company. The Risk Management 
Committee synthesizes the various types of risks and updates the risk list.

At the end of each year, the Risk Management Committee carries out risk assessment based on the risk list 
and risk evaluation criteria. Then, the committee formulates risk management strategies and risk-specific 
response plans for the following year based on the assessment results and submits them to the Board of 
Directors for approval and implementation.

• Internal Control Management

The person in charge of internal control of the company is responsible for the construction of the internal 
control system and the rectification of internal control issues; the Audit Department of the Company is 
responsible for the evaluation of internal control.

At the beginning of each year, the Audit Department formulates an evaluation plan and evaluation program, 
evaluates the level of internal control management of the Company in the previous year, and prepares an 
evaluation report. After review and approval by the management, the in charge of internal control of the 
company assists each department to implement the rectification of problems and optimization of procedures.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, 
accuracy, and completeness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside 
information policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to 
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement related to the Group, 
which include:

– The access to information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. 
Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to 
preserve confidentiality.

– Confidentiality agreements or confidentiality clauses are in place when the Group enters into significant 
negotiations.

– The Executive Directors are designated as the persons who speak on behalf of the Company when 
communicating with external parties such as the media, analysts, or investors.
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All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the 
business of the Group and various aspects including key operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance 
and information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control policies are properly 
complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads, assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide 
treatment plans, and monitor the risk management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board 
on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company has engaged external professional firm for providing the internal audit function and performing 
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The 
internal audit function examined key issues in relation to the accounting practices and all material controls and 
provided its findings and recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the management report and the internal audit findings, 
conducted an annual review of the risk management and internal control systems, including the financial, operational 
and compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2024, and considered that such systems are effective and 
adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, 
experiences, training programmes, budget and adequacy of relevant resources.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual and interim 
reports, inside information announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other 
regulatory requirements. The management has provided such explanation and information to the Board as necessary 
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the Group put 
forward to the Board for approval.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting policies have 
also been used and applied consistently except the adoption of revised standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretation.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration for the audit service included statutory audits and reviews for the Company; while the remuneration 
for the non-audit services included professional services on tax advisory and other consulting services. The 
remuneration paid and payable to the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit services and non-audit 
services for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Service Category
Fees Paid/Payable 

RMB’000

Audit Services 3,780
Non-audit Services 260
 – Tax Consultation Services 60
 – Environmental, Social and Governance Report Consulting Service 200

Total 4,040

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Sze Ting (陳詩婷) (“Ms. Chan”) is the company secretary of the Company. Ms. Chan is a director of the 
company secretarial services division of Tricor Services Limited, a member of Vistra Group.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary on corporate governance and board 
practices and matters. Mr. Huang Yuqing, the executive Director has been designated as the primary contact person 
at the Company which would work and communicate with Ms. Chan on the Company’s corporate governance and 
secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Chan has attended a total of no less than 15 hours of training courses 
on the Listing Rules, corporate governance, information disclosure, investors relation as well as the functions and 
duties of the company secretary of a Hong Kong listed issuer as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL 
MEETINGS

Pursuant to the Article 9.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks appropriate, convene 
an extraordinary general meeting. Any one or more members holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition, 
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of the 
Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition signed by the requisitionist(s) deposited at the 
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, 
the registered office, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called for the transaction of any business 
specified in such requisition and/or add resolutions to the meeting agenda (if any). If the Board does not within 21 
days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the physical meeting at only one location which will be the 
principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of 
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the Articles of Association for convening 
a general meeting.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/
her proposal with his/her detailed contact information at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong 
at Room 1919, 19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation 
that the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include the proposal in the agenda for the general 
meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The 
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

The Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at general meetings of the Company. In addition, the 
Shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong 
Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlement to dividend.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 1919, 19/F, Lee Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong 
(For the attention of the Board of Directors of Cutia Therapeutics)

Email: ir@cutiatx.com

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, 
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details 
and identification in order to give effect thereto. The Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Company considers that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor 
relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company is 
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular, through annual general 
meetings and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) 
are available to meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To safeguard the Shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution should be proposed for each substantially 
separate issue at general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at general 
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of 
the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”). 
The policy aims at promoting effective communication with the Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging 
the Shareholders to engage actively with the Company and enabling the Shareholders to exercise their rights as 
the Shareholders effectively. The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ 
Communication Policy including shareholders and investor engagement and communication activities conducted 
in 2024 and considered the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders 
as follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued 
by the Company for the information or action of holders of any of its securities, including but not limited to 
the following documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual accounts together with a copy of 
the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where 
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) 
a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of the Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’s 
website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication 
will be provided to the Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in both English 
and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing 
Rules. The Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities shall have the right to 
choose the language (either English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the Corporate Communication (in 
printed form or through electronic means).

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) 
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a 
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(c) Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published 
on the Company’s website (www.cutiatx.com). Other corporate information about the Company’s business 
developments, goals and strategies, corporate governance and risk management will also be available on 
the Company’s website.
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(d) Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company are primary forum for communication 
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company has provided the Shareholders with relevant 
information on the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the 
Listing Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable the Shareholders to make 
an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). The Shareholders are encouraged to participate in 
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are 
unable to attend the meetings. The Chairman of the Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board 
committees or their delegates, and the external auditors have attended general meetings of the Company to 
answer the Shareholders’ questions (if any).

(e) Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings
Shareholders can direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar, 
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via email to is-enquiries@vistra.com or call its hotline at (852) 2980 1333, 
or go in person to its public counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put to the Board and the Company
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send any 
enquiries to the Board by email: ir@cutiatx.com or by post to 20/F, Huanzhi Building, 436 Heng Feng Road, 
Jingan District, Shanghai, China.

(f) Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic and international), media interviews, marketing activities 
for investors and specialist industry forums etc. will be launched on a regular/required basis.

Company’s Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends. The Company do not have any pre-determined 
dividend payout ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the conditions and 
factors as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial 
year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is an R&D-driven, dermatology innovative products-focused biopharmaceutical company committed to 
develop comprehensive solutions that are tailored to meet the diverse and evolving needs of patients and consumers 
in the broader dermatology treatment and care market.

A list of the Company’s subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation and principal activities, is set out 
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion and analysis on the Group’s future business 
development and the financial and operational key performance indicators employed by the Directors in measuring 
the performance of the Group’s business are set out in the sections headed “Highlights” on page 7 of this annual 
report, “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 6 of this annual report and “Management Discussion and Analysis” 
on pages 9 to 19 of this annual report. There are no significant events that have an effect on the Group subsequent 
to the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 May 2019, as an exempted limited liability company 
under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
on 12 June 2023.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Zhang Lele (張樂樂) (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Huang Yuqing (黃雨青) (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Chen Lian Yong (陳連勇) (Chairman of the Board)
Dr. Xie Qin (謝沁)
Dr. Huang Xiao (黃瀟)
Ms. Yang Yunxia (楊雲霞)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Ming Kit (鍾明杰)
Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis (陶德仁)
Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang (葉曉翔)



40

Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are set out in the section headed 
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 62 to 68 of this annual report. Save for changes in the biographical 
details of the Directors, there was no other change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rules 13.51B of the Listing Rules.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS
Each of Ms. Zhang Lele and Mr. Huang Yuqing, being our executive Directors, has entered into a service contract 
with us for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less 
than 30 days’ notice in writing served by either the executive Director or our Company.

Each of Dr. Chen Lian Yong, Dr. Xie Qin, Dr. Huang Xiao and Ms. Yang Yunxia, being our non-executive Directors, 
has entered into a service contract with us for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, 
which may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing served by either the non-executive Director or 
our Company.

Each of Mr. Chung Ming Kit, Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis and Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang, being our independent non-executive 
Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with us for an initial term of three years commencing from the 
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than 30 days’ notice in writing served by either the independent 
non-executive Director or our Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of our Directors has entered, or has proposed to enter, a service contract with any 
member of our Group (other than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within one year without the 
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 
10 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by the Group 
to any of the Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their respective 
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or may compete with the business 
of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted 
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, 
during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, (i) no contract of significance between the Company, or any of its 
subsidiaries, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the Reporting Period; and (ii) 
no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling 
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details on related party transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this annual report. None of the related party transactions constitute “connected transactions” 
or “continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, there was no connected transaction of the Group which has 
to be disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, some of which are 
beyond its control.

• We face substantial competition for the development of our products, as our competitors may discover, 
develop or commercialize competing products earlier or more successfully than we do.

• Our business and financial prospects depend substantially on the success of our clinical stage and pre-
clinical stage drug candidates. If we are unable to successfully complete clinical development, obtain relevant 
regulatory approvals or achieve commercialization of our product candidates, or if we experience significant 
delays in any of the foregoing, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely 
affected.

• Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could interrupt, delay or halt 
clinical trials, delay or prevent regulatory approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label, or result 
in significant negative consequences following any regulatory approval or cause product liability claims, which 
could expose us to costs and liabilities and adversely affect our operations and reputation.

• We have entered into collaborations or licensing arrangements and may seek collaborations or enter into 
licensing arrangements in the future. We may not realize the benefits of such collaborations or licensing 
arrangements, and disputes may arise between us and our collaboration partners which could harm our 
business.

• We are largely dependent on the sales of our commercialized products. If we fail to achieve or further promote 
the widespread market acceptance of our products, or if we fail to grow or retain our customers or consumer 
base, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

• Claims that our product candidates or the sale, distribution or use of our future products infringes, 
misappropriates or otherwise violates the patent or other intellectual rights of third parties could result in 
costly litigation, the outcome of which would be uncertain, or could require substantial time and money to 
resolve, even if litigation is avoided.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make their own judgment or consult their 
own investment advisors before making any investment in the Shares.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development, protecting 
the environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.

The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance report will be prepared separately from this annual report 
and will be published on the same date as the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant 
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. The Group has 
compliance policies and procedures in place and would seek professional legal advice from its legal advisers to 
ensure that transactions and business to be performed by the Group are in compliance with the applicable laws 
and regulations. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of, or non-compliance, with applicable 
laws and regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the section 
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 19 and section headed “Corporate Governance 
Report” on pages 21 to 38 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement schemes which cover the Group’s eligible 
employees in the PRC, and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of 
these retirement schemes are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements of this annual report.

There are no provisions under the scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used to reduce existing level of 
contributions.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2024, the following Directors and chief executive of the Company had or were deemed to have 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of 
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed 
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be 
entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

Long Positions in the Underlying Shares

Name of Director
Capacity/Nature 
of interest Class of  Shares

Number of
Shares held

Approximate
percentage of

shareholding (%)

Zhang Lele Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 27,562,475 8.61
Huang Yuqing Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 4,835,000 1.51
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company 
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or 
short positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or 
were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would 
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV 
of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company 
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest
Number of

Shares held

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding 

(%)

6 Dimensions Capital, L.P.
 (“6 Dimensions LP”)(Note 1)

Beneficial owner 61,771,710 19.31

6 Dimensions Capital GP, LLC(Note 1) Interest in controlled 
 corporation

65,022,855 20.32

Suzhou 6 Dimensions Venture
 Capital Partnership L.P.
 (蘇州通和毓承投資合夥企業
 (有限合夥))
 (“Suzhou 6 Dimensions”)(Note 2)

Beneficial owner 60,516,000 18.91

Suzhou Tongyu Investment Management
 Partnership (Limited Partnership)
 (蘇州通毓投資管理合夥企業(有限合夥))
 (“Tongyu Investment”)(Note 2)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

60,516,000 18.91

Suzhou Frontline BioVentures Venture
 Capital Fund II L.P. (蘇州通和二期創業
 投資合夥企業(有限合夥))
 (“Suzhou Frontline II”)(Note 2)

Beneficial owner 25,935,425 8.11

Suzhou Fuyan Venture Capital
 Management Partnership
 (Limited Partnership)
 (蘇州富沿創業投資管理合夥企業
 (有限合夥)) (“Fuyan VC”)(Note 2)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

25,935,425 8.11

Suzhou Yunchang Investment
 Consulting Co., Ltd.
 (蘇州蘊長投資諮詢有限公司)
 (“Yunchang Investment”)(Note 2)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

86,451,425 27.02

Ms. Zhang Qiping(Note 2) Interest in controlled 
 corporation

86,451,425 27.02

Aurora Cutis Limited(Note 3) Beneficial owner 54,019,020 16.88
Futu Trustee Limited(Note 3) Interest in controlled 

 corporation
54,019,020 16.88
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Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest
Number of

Shares held

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding 

(%)

YF Dermatology Limited(Note 4) Beneficial owner 39,607,400 12.38
Yunfeng Fund III, L.P.
 (“Yunfeng LP”)(Note 4)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

39,607,400 12.38

Yunfeng Investment III, Ltd.
 (“Yunfeng GP”)(Note 4)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

39,607,400 12.38

Yunfeng Capital Limited
 (“Yunfeng Capital”)(Note 4)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

39,607,400 12.38

HongShan Capital Growth Fund V, L.P
 (“HongShan Capital”)(Note 5)

Beneficial owner 25,714,285 8.04

HSG Growth V Holdco Q, Ltd
 (“HSG Growth V”)(Note 5)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

25,714,285 8.04

HSG Growth V Management, L.P.
 (“HSG LP”)(Note 5)

Interest in controlled 
 corporation

25,714,285 8.04

HSG Holding Limited(Note 5) Interest in controlled 
 corporation

25,714,285 8.04

SNP China Enterprises Limited(Note 5) Interest in controlled 
 corporation

25,714,285 8.04

Mr. Neil Nanpeng Shen(Note 5) Interest in controlled 
 corporation

25,714,285 8.04

Notes:

1. 6 Dimensions LP and 6 Dimensions Affiliates Fund, L.P. (“6 Dimensions Affiliates”) are limited partnerships whose 
general partner is 6 Dimensions Capital GP, LLC. As such, under the SFO, 6 Dimensions Capital GP, LLC is deemed to 
be interested in Shares held by 6 Dimensions LP and 6 Dimensions Affiliates.

2. Suzhou 6 Dimensions is a limited partnership whose general partner is Tongyu Investment. As such, under the SFO, 
Tongyu Investment is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Suzhou 6 Dimensions.

Suzhou Frontline II is a limited partnership whose general partner is Fuyan VC. As such, under the SFO, Fuyan VC is 
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Suzhou Frontline II.

Tongyu Investment and Fuyan VC are limited partnerships whose general partner is Yunchang Investment, which is 
wholly-owned by Ms. Zhang Qiping (spouse of Mr. Chen Ziqing (陳梓卿), who inherited the shares of Yunzhang Investment 
following Mr. Chen Ziqing’s passing). As such, under the SFO, each of Yunchang Investment and Ms. Zhang Qiping is 
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Suzhou 6 Dimensions and Suzhou Frontline II.
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3. Upon exercise of the options and settlement of the share awards granted under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, a total 
of 53,642,920 Shares under the options and share awards granted under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan will be issued 
to Aurora Cutis Limited, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly owned by Futu Trustee Limited (the “Trustee”), the 
trustee of Aurora Cutis Employee Trust (“Trust I”), the trust set up by the Company to facilitate the administration of the 
Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. Pursuant to the trust deed of Trust I, all options and share awards will be held by Aurora 
Cutis Limited and administered under Trust I by the Trustee, solely for the benefit of the identified grantees under the 
Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. By virtue of the SFO, Futu Trustee Limited is deemed to be interested in the options and 
share awards held by Aurora Cutis Limited. From the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, 376,100 Shares were cancelled 
in Trust I.

4. YF Dermatology Limited is a private company controlled by Yunfeng LP, whose general partner is Yunfeng GP. Yunfeng 
GP is solely managed by Yunfeng Capital, whose shares are held by Mr. Yu Feng and Mr. Ma Yun. As such, under the 
SFO, each of Yunfeng LP, Yunfeng GP, Yunfeng Capital, Mr. Yu Feng and Mr. Ma Yun is deemed to be interested in the 
Shares held by YF Dermatology Limited.

5. The general partner of HongShan Capital is HSG Growth V whose general partner is HSG LP. HSG Holding Limited is 
general partner of HSG LP, and it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SNP China Enterprises Limited, whose sole shareholder 
is Mr. Neil Nanpeng Shen. As such, under the SFO, each of HSG Growth V, HSG LP, HSG Holding Limited, SNP China 
Enterprises Limited and Mr. Neil Nanpeng Shen is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by HongShan Capital.

6. All of the Shares held by Shareholders are ordinary Shares and represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the substantial or significant shareholders or other 
persons, other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set out in the paragraph 
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and 
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” above, had any interests or short positions in the 
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 
of the SFO.



46

Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS
The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted under all schemes of the 
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 divided by the weighted average number of Shares of the 
Company (excluding treasury shares) for the year ended 31 December 2024 is 0% as no option or award was 
granted under all schemes of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, which was adopted by the 
Company and took effect on 23 August 2019.

1. Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan is to promote the success of the Company and the 
interests of its Shareholders by providing a means through which the Company may grant equity-
based incentives to attract, motivate, retain and reward certain officers, employees, directors and 
other eligible persons and to further link the interests of award recipients with those of the Company’s 
Shareholders generally.

(b) Eligibility

An officer (whether or not a director) or employee of the Company or any of its affiliates, any member 
of the Board or any director of one of the Company’s affiliates, or any individual consultant or advisor 
who renders or has rendered bona fide services (other than services in connection with the offering or 
sale of securities of the Company or one of its affiliates, as applicable, in a capital raising transaction 
or as a market maker or promoter of that entity’s securities) to the Company or one of its affiliates.

(c) Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares that may be delivered pursuant to options and share awards (the 
“Awards”) granted under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan will not exceed the limit as duly approved 
by the shareholders of the Company from time to time. The maximum number of Shares the Company 
is authorized to issue is 70,685,670 Shares upon the completion of Share Subdivision as defined in 
the Prospectus under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue under the Pre-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan was 53,076,304 Shares, representing 16.7% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury 
shares) of the Company.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The terms of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan have no limit on the maximum entitlement of each 
participant.

(e) Administration

The Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan shall be administered, and all Awards under the Pre-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan shall be authorized, by the administrator. The “administrator” means the Board or one 
or more committees appointed by the Board or another committee (within its delegated authority) to 
administer all or certain aspects of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. The administrator may delegate 
ministerial, non-discretionary functions to individuals who are officers or employees of the Company 
or any of its affiliates or to third parties.
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Aurora Cutis Limited is a company incorporated in BVI and wholly owned by Futu Trustee Limited, the 
trustee of Trust I, the trust set up by the Company on 25 October 2021. Pursuant to the trust deed 
of Trust I, options and share awards with 53,642,920 underlying Shares will be held by Aurora Cutis 
Limited and administered under Trust I by the Trustee, solely for the benefit of the identified grantees 
(collectively “Trust Beneficiaries Group I”) under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. From the Listing 
Date to 31 December 2024, 376,100 Shares were cancelled in Trust I.

Aurora Cutis Employee II Trust (“Trust II”) was set up by the Company with Futu Trustee Limited as 
the Trustee on 1 December 2023. Pursuant to the trust deed of Trust II, upon exercise of the options 
and settlement of the share awards granted under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, 8,572,580 Shares 
will be issued to and held by the Trustee and administered under Trust II by the Trustee, solely for 
the benefit of the identified grantees (collectively “Trust Beneficiaries Group II”) under the Pre-IPO 
Equity Incentive Plan.

Trust I and Trust II were set up by the Company to facilitate the administration of the Pre-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan.

Pursuant to agreements between the grantees and the Company, 6,786,920 Shares will be held by 
the grantees directly upon the exercise of options and/or delivery of share awards.

(f) Awards

The Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan is divided into two separate equity programs: (1) the option and 
share appreciation rights (the “SAR”) grant program under which eligible persons may, at the discretion 
of the administrator, be granted options and/or SARs, and (2) the share award program under which 
eligible persons may, at the discretion of the administrator, be awarded restricted or unrestricted 
Shares or restricted share units. No options and share awards representing under the Pre-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan will be further granted.

(g) Period of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan

The Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan is effective for a period of 10 years from 23 August 2019 and the 
remaining life of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan as of the date of this annual report is around 4 
years.

Options and SAR

(a) Award agreement and general

Each option or SAR shall be evidenced by an award agreement (the “Award Agreement”) in the form 
approved by the administrator. The Award Agreement evidencing an option or SAR shall contain the 
terms established by the administrator for that Award and any other terms, provisions, or restrictions 
that the administrator may impose on the option or SAR or any Shares subject to the option or SAR. 
The administrator may require that the recipient of an option or SAR promptly execute and return to 
the Company his or her Award Agreement evidencing the Award. In addition, the administrator may 
require that the spouse of any married recipient of an option or SAR also promptly execute and return 
to the Company the Award Agreement evidencing the Award granted to the recipient or such other 
spousal consent form that the administrator may require in connection with the grant of the Award.
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(b) Price

The administrator will determine the purchase price per share of the Shares covered by each option 
(the “exercise price” of the option) at the time of the grant of the option, which exercise price will be 
set forth in the applicable Award Agreement, with the following factors.

(i) the par value of Share;

(ii) subject to clause (iii) below, 100% of the fair market value of a Share on the date of grant; or

(iii) in the case of an option granted to a participant, possessing more than 10% of the total 
combined voting power of all classes of shares of the Company, 110% of the Fair market value 
of a Share on the date of grant.

The administrator will determine the base price per share of the Shares covered by each SAR at the 
time of the grant of the SAR, which base price will be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement 
and will not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a Share on the date of grant of the SAR.

(c) Vesting, term and exercise

An option or SAR may be exercised only to the extent that it is vested and exercisable. The 
administrator will determine the vesting and/or exercisability provisions of each option or SAR (which 
may be based on performance criteria, passage of time or other factors or any combination thereof), 
which provisions will be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement. Unless the administrator 
otherwise expressly provides, once exercisable an option or SAR will remain exercisable until the 
expiration or earlier termination of the option or SAR.

Each option and SAR shall expire not more than 10 years after its date of grant. Any exercisable option 
or SAR will be deemed to be exercised when (a) the applicable exercise procedures in the related 
Award Agreement have been satisfied (or, in the absence of any such procedures in the related Award 
Agreement, the Company has received written notice of such exercise from the participant), and (b) 
in the case of an option, the Company has received any required payment, and (c) in the case of an 
option or SAR, the Company has received any written statement.

(d) Termination of employment

Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Award Agreement, if a participant’s employment by or 
service to the Company or any of its affiliates is terminated by such entity for cause, the participant’s 
option or SAR will terminate on the participant’s severance date, whether or not the option or SAR is 
then vested and/or exercisable.
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Share Award Program

(a) General

Each share award shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement in the form approved by the 
administrator. The Award Agreement evidencing a share award shall contain the terms established 
by the administrator for that share award, as well as any other terms, provisions, or restrictions that 
the administrator may impose on the share award (including, but not limited to, the number of Shares 
subject to such share award); in each case subject to the applicable provisions and limitations of this 
Plan. The administrator may require that the recipient of a share award promptly execute and return to 
the Company his or her Award Agreement evidencing the share award. In addition, the administrator 
may require that the spouse of any married recipient of a share award also promptly execute and 
return to the Company the Award Agreement evidencing the share award granted to the recipient or 
such other spousal consent form that the administrator may require in connection with the grant of 
the share award.

(b) Price

The administrator will determine the purchase price per share of the Shares covered by each share 
awards at the time of grant of the Award. In no case will such purchase price be less than the par 
value of the Shares.

(c) Vesting, settlement and term

The restrictions imposed on the Shares subject to a restricted share award and the vesting conditions 
applicable to each restricted share unit award (which may in each case be based on performance 
criteria, passage of time or other factors or any combination thereof) will be set forth in the applicable 
Award Agreement. Unless otherwise set forth in an Award Agreement, a restricted share unit award 
may, in the discretion of the administrator, be settled in Shares or cash (or a combination thereof).

Any payment of cash or delivery of shares in payment for a share award, if applicable, may be delayed 
until a future date if specifically authorized by the administrator in writing and by the participant.

As at 1 January 2024, no option was available for grant under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. In 
connection with the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 12 June 2023, the Board has approved 
that upon listing, the Company will not grant any additional options under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. 
Accordingly, no option was available for grant under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan as at the Listing Date 
and 31 December 2024, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, pursuant to the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, the Company had granted:

(i) to directors, senior management, consultants and employees of the Group outstanding options 
to subscribe for 22,116,165 Shares, representing approximately 6.9% of the total issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report.

(ii) to the five highest paid individuals of the Group outstanding options to subscribe for 12,457,040 
Shares, representing approximately 3.9% of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of 
the Company as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report.

(iii) to other grantees (excluding directors and the five highest paid individuals) of the Group outstanding 
options to subscribe for 9,659,125 Shares, representing approximately 3.0% of the total issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report.
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Below is a list of the grantees of the outstanding options who are (i) Directors, (ii) senior management (other 
than connected persons), (iii) consultants and (iv) other employees, of the Company under the Pre-IPO 
Equity Incentive Plan.

Number of options

Name and
category of
participant Date of grant

Exercise
Price

Fair value
per share

as of grant
date

As of
1 January 

2024

Exercised
during the
Reporting

Period

Cancelled
during the
Reporting

Period

Lapsed
during the
Reporting

Period

Forfeited 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

As of
31 December

2024 Vesting Period Exercise Period

Directors
Ms. Zhang Lele 23 August 

 2019
US$0.06 US$0.26918 10,285,715 10,157,500(3) – – – 128,215 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting

 commencement date
26 February 
 2021

US$0.396 US$0.62362 6,988,325 – – – – 6,988,325 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

19 October 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.19946 202,195 – – – – 202,195 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

19 October 
 2022

US$0.396 US$0.93300 49,965 – – – – 49,965 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Mr. Huang Yuqing 10 July 2021 US$0.06 US$0.95794 592,010 – – – – 592,010 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

10 July 2021 US$0.396 US$0.70828 1,711,195 – – – – 1,711,195 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

28 February 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.29184 27,970 – – – – 27,970 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Senior Management (Except for Ms. Zhang Lele and Mr. Huang Yuqing)
Mr. Zhu Qi 28 February 

 2020
US$0.06 US$0.26918 1,714,285 – – – – 1,714,285 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting

 commencement date
26 February 
 2021

US$0.396 US$0.62362 385,715 – – – – 385,715 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

28 February 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.29184 29,320 – – – – 29,320 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Mr. Lei Lei 24 April 2020 US$0.06 US$0.26934 450,000 – – – – 450,000 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

26 February 
 2021

US$0.396 US$0.62782 500,000 – – – – 500,000 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

28 February 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.29184 20,220 – – – – 20,220 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Ms. Zhang Chunna 28 February 
 2020

US$0.06 US$0.26970 1,028,570 – – – – 1,028,570 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

26 February 
 2021

US$0.396 US$0.62782 271,430 – – – – 271,430 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

28 February 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.29184 22,915 – – – – 22,915 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date
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Number of options

Name and
category of
participant Date of grant

Exercise
Price

Fair value
per share

as of grant
date

As of
1 January 

2024

Exercised
during the
Reporting

Period

Cancelled
during the
Reporting

Period

Lapsed
during the
Reporting

Period

Forfeited 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

As of
31 December

2024 Vesting Period Exercise Period

Ms. Xu Jingxin 15 September 
 2020

US$0.06 US$0.87714 308,570 – – – – 308,570 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

26 February 
 2021

US$0.396 US$0.64578 191,430 – – – – 191,430 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

28 February 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.29184 17,525 – – – – 17,525 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Mr. Wu Jiaru 28 February 
 2020

US$0.06 US$0.26918 642,855 – – – – 642,855 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

26 February 
 2021

US$0.396 US$0.62362 307,145 – – – – 307,145 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

28 February 
 2022

US$0.06 US$1.29184 16,850 – – – – 16,850 5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Consultants
Dr. Steven Brian
 Landau MD

23 August 
 2019

nil US$0.04040 1,097,145 – – – – 1,097,145 Vested at the date of 
 grant

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Dr. Zhang Jie 28 February 
 2020

US$0.06 US$0.26892 857,145 857,145(3) – – – – 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Ms. Zhang 
 Jingyuan

15 September 
 2020

US$0.06 US$0.87690 34,285 – – – – 34,285 5 years(1) 10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Other employees From 
 28 February 
 2020 to 
 19 October 
 2022

US$0.06 to
US$0.396

US$0.26888-
US$1.29184

5,502,525 – – – 124,495 5,378,030 5 years or 5 years and 
 Performance- Based 
 Vesting(1)(2)

10 years from the vesting
 commencement date

Total 33,255,305 11,014,645 – – 124,495 22,116,165

Notes:

(1) The Grantees will vest in twenty percent of the option on the one year anniversary of the vesting commencement 
date and an additional one sixtieth of the option upon each successive monthly anniversary (or if there is no 
corresponding day, on the last day of such month) for the next 48 months following such one-year anniversary, 
subject generally to the Grantees continuing to be an employee of the Company through each such date (the 
“Time-Based Vesting”).

(2) Subject to the fulfilment of the Time-Based Vesting set forth above, the Option only become vested on each Time-
Based Vesting Date, subject to the Grantee’s continued employment with the Company through the applicable 
Time-Based Vesting Date and the achievement of the applicable performance target for the applicable fiscal year 
of the Company ending immediately prior to the applicable Time-Based Vesting Date (the “Performance-Based 
Vesting”, each such fiscal year, a “Fiscal Year”, and each such performance target, a “Performance Target”). 
Each Performance Target shall be decided by the Company annually, initially the Performance Target shall be the 
Grantee has received at least three points in the Performance Target annual review.
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(3) During the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing prices immediately before the date on which the share 
options were exercised for Ms. Zhang Lele were approximately HKD12.22 per Share and HKD12.48 per Share. 
The weighted average closing prices immediately before the date on which the share options were exercised for 
Dr. Zhang Jie were approximately HKD9.18 per Share and HKD12.48 per Share.

As at 1 January 2024, no share award was available for grant under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. In 
connection with the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 12 June 2023, the Board has approved 
that upon listing, the Company will not grant any additional share awards under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive 
Plan. Accordingly, no share award was available for grant under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan as at the 
Listing Date and 31 December 2024, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, pursuant to the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, the Company had granted:

(i) to directors, senior management and employees of the Group outstanding share awards to subscribe 
for 30,397,699 Shares, representing approximately 9.5% of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury 
shares) of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report.

(ii) to the five highest paid individuals of the Group outstanding share awards to subscribe for 14,848,199 
Shares, representing approximately 4.6% of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the 
Company as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report.

(iii) to other grantees (excluding directors and the five highest paid individuals) of the Group outstanding 
share awards to subscribe for 15,549,500 Shares, representing approximately 4.9% of the total issued 
Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of 
this report.
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Below is a list of the grantees of the outstanding share awards who are (i) connected persons, (ii) 
senior management (other than connected persons), and (iii) other employees (who are all current 
employees but not Directors, members of senior management, consultants or connected persons of 
the Company) under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan.

Number of awards

Name and
category of
participant Date of grant

Fair value
per share

as of
grant date

As of
1 January 

2024

Vested(3)

during the
Reporting

Period

Cancelled
during the
Reporting

Period

Lapsed
during the
Reporting

Period

Forfeited 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

As of
31 December

2024 Vesting Period

Directors
Ms. Zhang Lele 19 October 2022 US$1.25838 9,248,075 4,624,036 – – – 4,624,039 4 years and Performance-

 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 750,000 187,500 – – – 562,500 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Mr. Huang Yuqing 28 February 2022 US$1.35096 1,580,100 – – – – 1,580,100 4 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 838,725 – – – – 838,725 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Senior Management (Except for Ms. Zhang Lele and Mr. Huang Yuqing)
Mr. Zhu Qi 28 February 2022 US$1.35096 1,970,450 – – – – 1,970,450 4 years and Performance-

 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 650,230 – – – – 650,230 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Mr. Lei Lei 28 February 2022 US$1.35096 1,857,205 – – – – 1,857,205 4 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 422,575 – – – – 422,575 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Ms. Zhang Chunna 28 February 2022 US$1.35096 1,881,500 – – – – 1,881,500 4 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 45,585 – – – – 45,585 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Ms. Xu Jingxin 28 February 2022 US$1.35096 1,932,915 – – – – 1,932,915 4 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 799,560 – – – – 799,560 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Mr. Wu Jiaru 28 February 2022 US$1.35096 1,389,340 – – – – 1,389,340 4 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

20 November 2022 US$1.25840 393,810 – – – – 393,810 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Other employees From 1 December
 2021 to
 20 November 2022

US$1.25838-
US$1.35096

11,987,045 99,935 – – 437,945 11,449,165 4 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting or
 4.5 years and Performance-
 Based Vesting(1)(2)

Total 35,747,115 4,911,471 – – 437,945 30,397,699
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Notes:

(1) 25% of the restricted shares units (the “RSUs”) shall vest on the one year anniversary (or for share awards granted 
in November 2022, one and a half years anniversary) of the vesting commencement date and an additional 25% 
of the RSUs upon each successive one year anniversary for the next 3 years following such one-year anniversary, 
subject generally to the Awardees continuing to be an employee of the Company through each such date.

(2) Subject to the fulfilment of the Time-Based Vesting set forth above, the Share Awards only become vested on each 
Time-Based Vesting Date, subject to the Grantee’s continued employment with the Company through the applicable 
Time-Based Vesting Date and the achievement of the applicable performance target for the applicable fiscal year 
of the Company ending immediately prior to the applicable Time-Based Vesting Date (the “Performance-Based 
Vesting”, each such fiscal year, a “Fiscal Year”, and each such performance target, a “Performance Target”). 
Each Performance Target shall be decided by the Company annually, initially the Performance Target shall be the 
Grantee has received at least three points in the Performance Target annual review.

(3) According to the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, upon vesting of the share awards, the participants are required 
to pay the stipulated purchase price before the Company issues certificates evidencing the Shares awarded 
pursuant to the share awards. The consideration paid upon delivery of each Share underlying the share awards 
is US$0.00002.

(4) During the Reporting Period, the weighted average closing prices immediately before the date on which the share 
awards were vested for Ms. Zhang Lele were approximately HKD14.60 per Share and HKD12.86 per Share. The 
weighted average closing price immediately before the date on which the share awards were vested for other 
employees was approximately HKD12.86 per Share.

2. Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan

The Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan was conditionally approved and adopted in compliance with Chapter 17 
of the Listing Rules by resolution of our then shareholders on 30 May 2023.

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan is to incentivize and reward the Eligible Participants 
(as defined below) for their contribution to the Group and to align their interests with that of our 
Company so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of our Company.

(b) Eligible Participants

The Board (which expression shall, for the purpose of this paragraph, include the Board or a duly 
authorized committee thereof) may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant an option or a share award 
to subscribe for such number of Shares as the Board may determine to (a) an employee (whether full 
time or part-time) or a director of our Company or any of its subsidiaries (the “Eligible Employee(s)”) 
and (b) a consultant who provides services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in 
its ordinary and usual course of business which are material to the long term growth of the Group 
(“Service Provider(s)”, together with the Eligible Employees referred as the “Eligible Participant(s)”).
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For the avoidance of doubt, Service Providers shall exclude placing agents or financial advisers 
providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, and any professional service 
providers such as auditors or valuers.

The eligibility of any Eligible Employees shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the 
basis of the Board’s opinion as to, among others, the participant’s individual performance, time 
commitment, responsibilities or employment conditions according to the prevailing market practice and 
industry standard, the length of engagement with the Group and the actual or potential contribution 
to the development and growth of the Group.

The eligibility of any Service Providers shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the 
basis of the Board’s opinion as to, among others, their contribution to the development and growth 
of the Group, the prevailing market practice and industry standard, the actual degree of involvement 
in and/or cooperation with the Group and length of collaborative relationship the Service Providers 
has established with the Group, and the amount of support, assistance, guidance, advice, efforts 
and contributions the Service Providers has exerted and given towards the success of the Group, 
and/or whether the person is regarded as a valuable consultant of the Group, taking into account 
the knowledge, experience, qualification, expertise and reputation of the Service Providers or other 
relevant factors (including without limitation technical know-how, market competitiveness, synergy 
between him/her and the Group and his/her strategic value).

(c) Maximum number of Shares

(i) Subject to paragraphs (iv) and (v) below, the total number of Shares which may be issued upon 
exercise of all options and share awards to be granted under the Post-IPO Equity Incentive 
Plan shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the relevant class of Shares in issue on the day on 
which trading of the Shares commences on the Stock Exchange (the “Plan Mandate Limit”), 
being 30,402,446 Shares. Options and share awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of 
the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Plan 
Mandate Limit. As at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the number 
of options and share awards available for grant under the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan 
mandate was 30,402,446 Shares, representing 9.5% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury 
shares) of the Company.

(ii) Subject to paragraph (i) above, within the Plan Mandate Limit, the total number of Shares which 
may be issued upon exercise of all options and share awards to be granted to Service Providers 
shall not exceed 1% of the relevant class of Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the 
Shares commences on the Stock Exchange, being 3,040,244 Shares (the “Service Providers 
Sublimit”). As at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the Service 
Providers Sublimit available for grant under the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan mandate was 
3,040,244 Shares representing 0.95% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) of the 
Company.
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(iii) Subject to paragraph (iv) below, the Plan Mandate Limit and the Service Providers Sublimit 
may be refreshed at any time after three years from the date of Shareholders’ approval for 
the last refreshment (or the date on which the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan is adopted, as 
the case may be) by approval of the Shareholders in general meeting provided that (1) any 
controlling shareholders and their associates (or if there is no controlling shareholder, directors 
(excluding independent non-executive directors) and the chief executive of our Company and 
their respective associates) must abstain from voting in favor of the relevant resolution at the 
general meeting; and (2) our Company must comply with the requirements under Rules 13.39(6), 
13.39(7), 13.40, 13.41 and 13.42 of the Listing Rules. The requirements under (1) and (2) of 
this paragraph do not apply if the refreshment is made immediately after an issue of securities 
by our Company to the Shareholders on a pro rata basis as set out in Rule 13.36(2)(a) of the 
Listing Rules such that the unused part of the plan mandate (as a percentage of the relevant 
class of Shares in issue) upon refreshment is the same as the unused part of the plan mandate 
immediately before the issue of securities, rounded to the nearest whole Share.

(iv) The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options and share awards 
to be granted under the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan and any other plans of our Company 
under the plan mandate as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the relevant class of Shares in 
issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed plan mandate.

(v) Without prejudice to paragraph (iv) above, our Company may seek separate Shareholders’ 
approval in a general meeting to grant options and/or share awards beyond the Plan Mandate 
Limit to participants specifically identified by our Company before such approval is sought. 
In such event, our Company must send a circular to its Shareholders containing a general 
description of the specified participants, the number and terms of options and/or share awards 
to be granted, the purpose of granting options and/or share awards to the specified participants 
with an explanation as to how the terms of the options and/or share awards will serve such 
purpose and all other information required under the Listing Rules.

(d) Maximum entitlement of a grantee

Where any grant of options or share awards to a participant would result in the Shares issued and to be 
issued upon exercise of all options and/or share awards granted and to be granted to such participant 
(excluding any options and share awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing in 
aggregate over 1% of the relevant class of Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares), such grant 
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his/
her close associates (or his/her associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from 
voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price) of options and/or share awards to be 
granted to such participant must be fixed before Shareholders’ approval.

(e) Subscription price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an option (the “Subscription Price”) 
in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined by the Board or a duly authorized 
committee thereof at its absolute discretion, which shall be not less than the highest of:

(i) the nominal value of a Share;

(ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the 
date of grant, which must be a business day; and
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(iii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under a share award (the “Purchase 
Price”) shall be determined by the Board or a duly authorized committee thereof at its absolute 
discretion, based on considerations such as the prevailing closing price of the Shares, the 
purpose of the share award and the contribution of the Eligible Participant.

(f) Vesting period

An offer of the grant of an option or a share award shall be made to any Eligible Participants by letter 
in such form as the Board or a duly authorized committee thereof may from time to time determine 
specifying the number of Shares, the vesting period, the subscription price, the option period, the 
date by which the grant must be accepted and further requiring the Eligible Participants to hold the 
option or share award on the terms on which it is to be granted and to be bound by the provisions of 
the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan.

(g) Exercise period

An option or a share award are may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Board to each grantee, 
which period may commence on a day falling at least 12 months after the date upon which the offer for 
the grant of options or share awards are made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from 
the date on which an option or a share award are offered to a participant, subject to the provisions for 
early termination under the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. The minimum period for which an option 
or a share award must be held before it can be vested or exercised (if applicable) shall be 12 months 
from the date of grant of such option or share award.

(h) Duration

The Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing 
on the date when the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan becomes unconditional, after which period no 
further options or share awards will be granted by the provisions of the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, 
but the provisions of the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan shall remain in full force and effect to the 
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options or share awards granted prior thereto or 
otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan.

No options or share awards had been granted or agreed to be granted under the Post-IPO Equity 
Incentive Plan from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2024. Options and share awards to 
subscribe for 30,402,446 Shares remained available for grant as at both the Listing Date and 31 
December 2024.

(i) Period of the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan

The Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan is effective for a period of 10 years from 30 May 2023 and the 
remaining life of the Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan as of the date of this annual report is around 8 
years.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognized revenue of RMB280 million. Our customers mainly 
include commercial customers and distributors with good scale advantages (or group customers). During the 
Reporting Period, sales from the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 47.4% (2023: 41.2%) 
of the Group’s total sales amount. The Group’s largest customer for the year ended 31 December 2024 accounted 
for approximately 26.1% of the Group’s total sales amount for the same year (2023: 20.0%). The Board believes that 
there was no material reliance on major customers and no material related risk was noted in the Reporting Period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 
approximately 39.5% (2023: 27.0%) of the Group’s total purchase amount. The Group’s largest supplier for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 accounted for approximately 12.7% (2023: 8.5%) of the Group’s total purchase 
amount for the same year.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge 
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s 
five largest customers or suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not experience any significant disputes with its customers 
or suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its employees, suppliers, customers 
and other stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals. The Group will continue to ensure effective 
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 
of the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this 
annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 23 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

LOAN AGREEMENT
During the Reporting Period, the Company had not breached any terms of its loan agreements for loans that are 
significant to its operations.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY
Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be 
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, 
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their 
duty in their offices.
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The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior management of 
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 73 
to 134 of this annual report. The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 24 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES
As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Reporting Period are set out 
in page 76 and note 33, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DONATIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any material charitable donations (2023: nil).

DEBENTURE ISSUED
The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting Period.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in 
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING
An analysis on the use of proceeds from listing is set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section on 
pages 9 to 19 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has repurchased a total of 1,362,600 Shares (the 
“Repurchased Shares”) on the Stock Exchange (the “Share Repurchase”). The aggregate purchase price paid for 
the Repurchased Shares was approximately HK$15.1 million. The Repurchased Shares represented approximately 
0.44714% of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of the resolution granting the repurchase 
mandate.

The Board believed that the Share Repurchase program would demonstrate the Company’s confidence in its long-
term business prospects and would, ultimately, benefit the Company and create value for the Shareholders.
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Details of the Repurchased Shares are as follows:

Month of

Number
of shares

repurchased

Highest
repurchase

price per
share

Lowest
repurchase

price per
share

Aggregate
price paid

repurchase (HK$) (HK$) (HK$)

2024
July 585,800 7.60 6.93 4,207,186.4
September 418,800 15.26 14.14 6,198,070.5
October 358,000 16.26 11.98 4,740,462.0

Total 1,362,600 15,145,718.9

Subsequent to the Share Repurchase, as of 31 December 2024, the 1,362,600 Repurchased Shares were accounted 
for as treasury shares of being used for incentives for eligible participants, sale or transfer to obtain liquidity and 
other purposes.

Save for the disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of 
the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were 
entered into by the Company, or existed during the Reporting Period.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The AGM will be held on Thursday, 5 June 2025. A notice convening the AGM is expected to be published and 
despatched to the Shareholders in due course in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

For determining the qualification as members of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members 
of the Company will be closed from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Thursday, 5 June 2025, both dates inclusive, during 
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, non-
registered holders of Shares shall ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates 
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far 
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30 May 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate 
Governance Report” on pages 21 to 38 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained 
the prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules from the date of this report to the latest practicable 
date prior to the issue of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their respective 
holding of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman 
Islands, where the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata 
basis to the existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the most recent three years is set out in the 
section headed “Financial Summary” on page 20 of this annual report.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES
As of the date of this annual report, the Company did not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 
13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the 
Directors, its employees or a director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company who, because of such office 
or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to the Issuer or its Shares. Having made specific 
enquiries with all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code for the year 
ended 31 December 2024. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees who are likely to 
be in possession of inside information of the Company was noted by the Company.

AUDITOR
There has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest 
Entity Auditor, who are proposed for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board
Cutia Therapeutics

Zhang Lele
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Ms. Zhang Lele (張樂樂), aged 47, is our founder. She was appointed as our Director on 12 May 2020 and was 
re-designated as our executive Director on 15 November 2022. Ms. Zhang has been serving as our CEO since 1 
September 2019, and as the chief executive officer of Cutia Shanghai, Aurora Cutis and Cutia Wuxi since September 
2019, November 2020 and December 2020 respectively. Ms. Zhang has been serving as a director of Cutia HK, 
Cutia Shanghai, Aurora Cutis, Cutia Wuxi and Chongqing Lehao since June 2020, November 2020, November 2020, 
December 2020 and November 2022 respectively. Ms. Zhang is responsible for overall strategic planning, business 
direction, operational management, and supervision of the senior management of the Group.

Ms. Zhang has worked in the pharmaceutical industry for approximately 20 years, accumulating a wealth of first-hand 
experience in the industry with a proven track record of success. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhang served as 
an assistant business development manager at Shanghai Novartis Trading Co., Ltd (上海諾華貿易有限公司) from 
June 2008 to June 2011. She has worked in Eisai China Inc. (衛材(中國)藥業有限公司), which is wholly owned by 
Eisai Co., Ltd., a Japanese pharmaceutical company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 4523) as 
(i) the senior strategic alliance manager responsible for management of alliance products from September 2011 
to October 2012, (ii) the vice president of management and development excellence department responsible for 
sales and marketing training and online promotion from November 2012 to August 2014, (iii) head of optimization 
and development department responsible for business development, sales and marketing training from September 
2014 to February 2015, and (iv) the head of strategic alliances responsible for sales of products from strategic 
alliances from March 2015 to September 2016. From October 2016 to April 2019, she has served as the head of 
strategic projects department in Santen Pharmaceutical (China) Co., Ltd. (參天製藥(中國)有限公司) where she was 
responsible for overall management.

Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in pharmaceutical preparations from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University 
(瀋陽藥科大學) in the PRC in July 2000, and a master’s degree in pharmacology from Shanghai Institute of 
Pharmaceutical Industry (上海醫藥工業研究院) in the PRC in July 2005.

Mr. Huang Yuqing (黃雨青), aged 35, was appointed as our executive Director on 15 November 2022. Mr. Huang 
has been serving as our CFO since 10 May 2021. Mr. Huang is responsible for overall strategic planning, investment 
and financing, mergers and acquisitions, capital markets and investor relations of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang had served as the lead analyst for Greater China Healthcare Research at 
Jefferies Hong Kong Limited from February 2017 to March 2018. He was recognized as one of the Top Three Best 
Analysts in the healthcare industry by the Institutional Investor All-China Research Team Survey in 2017. From 
March 2018 to October 2019, he worked in Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited (開拓藥業有限公司), a clinical-stage novel 
drug developing company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9939), as the chief financial officer and chief 
business officer. He had also worked at Harvest Global Investments Limited (嘉實國際資產管理有限公司), with his 
last position as an analyst from May 2020 to May 2021.

Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree in communication studies from Fudan University (復旦大學) in the PRC 
in July 2014.
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Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chen Lian Yong (陳連勇), aged 62, was appointed as our Director and the chairman of our Board on 23 
August 2019, and was re-designated as our non-executive Director on 15 November 2022. Dr. Chen is currently the 
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible 
for providing strategic advice and recommendations on the operations and management of the Group.

Dr. Chen has more than 20 years of experience in the life sciences and medical-related industries. He is currently 
the founding managing partner and chief executive officer of 6 Dimensions Capital (通和毓承), the private equity 
fund management company under which the Controlling Shareholders are managed. He has been the founder and 
managing partner of Frontline BioVentures (Hong Kong) Limited since 2012 and a partner at Eight Roads Capital 
Advisors (Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as FIL Capital Management (Hong Kong) Limited) from May 2008 
to March 2014, as well as an executive director and general manager of Frontline BioVentures (Shanghai) Limited 
(崇凱創業投資諮詢(上海)有限公司) since September 2013.

Dr. Chen has been the chairman of Ocumension Therapeutics (歐康維視生物), a company primarily engaged in 
ophthalmic therapies and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1477), since May 2018 and was 
re-designated from executive director to non-executive director with effect from 20 July 2021. He has been a director 
of 111, Inc. (111 集團), an internet medical and health company listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market (stock code: YI), 
from May 2019 to November 2024. Dr. Chen was a non-executive director of Xikang Cloud Hospital Holdings Inc. 
(熙康雲醫院控股有限公司) (former name: Neusoft Xikang Holdings Inc. (東軟熙康控股有限公司)) since December 
2019, a company primarily engaged in cloud hospital platform and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock 
code: 9686) on 28 September 2023.

Dr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemistry from Peking University (北京大學) in the PRC in July 1984. He 
obtained his Ph.D. in chemistry with grand distinction from the Catholic University of Louvain in Belgium in June 
1991. He conducted postdoctoral research in chemistry at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United 
States from August 1991 to December 1992.
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Dr. Xie Qin (謝沁), aged 44, was appointed as our Director on 23 August 2019, and was re-designated as our 
non-executive Director on 15 November 2022. She is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and 
recommendations on the operations and management of the Group.

Dr. Xie has more than 10 years of experience in the pharmaceuticals-related industry. Prior to joining the Group, 
Dr. Xie has served as a senior investment manager in Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co. Ltd. (上海醫藥集
團股份有限公司), a company primarily engaged in pharmaceutical industry and listed on both the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 601607) and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2607), from November 2010 to 
December 2012. From September 2013 to December 2015, she had served as a business development manager in 
Huizheng (Shanghai) Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd. (輝正(上海)醫藥科技有限公司), a subsidiary of Zhejiang 
Hisun Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (浙江海正藥業股份有限公司), a pharmaceutical company listed on the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600267). From January 2016 to August 2017, she had served at 6 Dimensions Venture 
Consultant (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (毓承投資諮詢(上海)有限公司). Since September 2017, she has worked in Frontline 
BioVentures (Shanghai) Limited (崇凱創業投資諮詢(上海)有限公司) with her current position as managing partner, 
primarily overseeing its overall strategic development. Since January 2025, Dr Xie was a non-executive director of 
Ocumension Therapeutics (歐康維視生物), a company primarily engaged in ophthalmic therapies and listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1477).

Dr. Xie obtained a bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine from the Xi’an Jiaotong University (西安交通大學) in the 
PRC in July 2003. She then received her master’s degree in pharmacology and doctorate degree in pharmacology 
from University of Oxford in the United Kingdom in September 2004 and April 2011, respectively.

Dr. Huang Xiao (黃瀟), aged 39, was appointed as our Director on 26 August 2020, and was re-designated as 
our non-executive Director on 15 November 2022. He is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and 
recommendations on the operations and management of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Huang has been serving at YF Capital (雲鋒基金) with his current position as managing 
director since May 2015. He currently serves as a director in more than ten private companies, most of which are 
focusing on medical or technology industry, such as AbelZeta Pharma, Microport Cardiac Rhythm Management 
Limited, Sironax Ltd. and Livzon Biologics Limited.

Dr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree in life science from Tsinghua University (清華大學) in the PRC in August 
2007, and a doctor’s degree in cell biology from Yale University in the United States in December 2012.

Ms. Yang Yunxia (楊雲霞), aged 51, was appointed as our Director on 26 August 2020, and was re-designated as 
our non-executive Director on 15 November 2022. She is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and 
recommendations on the operations and management of the Group.

Ms. Yang is a partner of HongShan. Prior to joining HongShan in May 2015, Ms. Yang successively served as an 
investment manager and a vice president in Legend Capital Co., Ltd. (君聯資本管理股份有限公司) from April 2011 
to May 2015. From December 2009 to April 2011, she worked in Johnson & Johnson, a company listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange (stock code: JNJ). From January 2017 to July 2022, Ms. Yang served as a director in Burning 
Rock Biotech Limited, a company listed on NASDAQ (stock code: BNR).

Ms. Yang obtained a master’s degree in clinical medicine from Tongji Medical University (同濟醫科大學) (currently 
known as Tongji Medical College of Huazhong Technology University (華中科技大學)) in the PRC in July 1997, and 
a master’s degree of business administration from Duke University in the United States in May 2009.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Ming Kit (鍾明杰), aged 47, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect 
from the Listing Date. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent 
advice on the operations and management of the Group.

Mr. Chung has over 20 years of experience in finance, accounting and management. He served as an auditor at 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (德勤會計事務所) from September 2001 to April 2006. From June 2006 to March 2008, 
he served as the financial executive manager of Tomoike Industrial (HK) Ltd. (香港友池有限公司), a subsidiary of 
CDW Holding Limited (CDW 控股有限公司), a company listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(stock code: BXE). He worked in China Medical Technologies Inc. (中國醫療技術公司), a company previously listed 
on Nasdaq Stock Market (stock code: CMED) and delisted on February 2012, from April 2008 to January 2012, 
with his last position held as the group financial controller. And he worked at I.T. Limited, a company previously 
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 999) and delisted on April 2021 due to privatization, from 
April 2012 to January 2014, with his last position held as the financial controller. From January 2014 to July 2017, 
he served as the chief financial officer and company secretary in China Fordoo Holdings Limited (中國虎都控股有
限公司) (currently known as China Anchu Energy Storage Group Limited (中國安儲能源集團有限公司)), a menswear 
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2399). From July 2017 to July 2019, he worked 
at New World Department Store China Limited (新世界百貨中國有限公司), a company listed on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange (stock code: 825), where his last position was the chief financial officer. From September 2020 
to September 2022, he served as the financial controller in Arredamenti Company Limited, and has been a non-
executive director in Arredamenti Company Limited from September 2022 to December 2023. From September 
2022 to July 2024, he also has been a chief financial officer in Computime Group Limited, a company listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 320) and he has been a company secretary from January 2024 to July 
2024. Since December 2024, he was the chief financial officer in Sasa International Holdings Limited (a company 
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code: 178).

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree of business administration in accounting from Hong Kong University of 
Science and Technology in Hong Kong in November 2001. He obtained a certificate of membership from the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in January 2005 and then a fellow in October 2014. He was qualified 
as a chartered financial analyst in September 2008, granted by the Board of Governors of CFA Institute.

Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis (陶德仁), aged 48, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with 
effect from the Listing Date. He is a member of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. 
He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent advice on the operations and management 
of the Group.

From March 2004 to August 2010, Mr. Tao worked at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited with his last position as the 
executive director in the research division. Mr. Tao has been serving as the principal of Anta Capital Management 
Limited, where he was responsible for asset allocation and risk managements for off-shore investments from August 
2010 to June 2024. He has also been serving as the vice president and Head of Merger and Acquisition of ANTA 
Sports Products Limited, a leading global sportswear company which shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange (stock code: 2020), where he is responsible for merger, acquisition and capital market affairs, since 
March 2016.

Mr. Tao obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts from University of California, Berkeley in the United States in May 
1998. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst in September 2003, granted by the Board of Governors of 
CFA Institute.
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Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang (葉曉翔), aged 50, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect 
from the Listing Date. He is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. 
He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent advice on the operations and management 
of the Group.

From October 2003 to March 2016, Mr. Ye held various positions at Eisai China Holdings Ltd., a company wholly 
owned by Eisai Co., Ltd., a Japanese pharmaceutical company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 
4523), including legal manager, senior director of the department of legal and compliance, and head of administration 
division, where he was mainly responsible for legal and compliance affairs. Since April 2016, Mr. Ye served as a 
vice president and general counsel in Eisai China Holdings Ltd. of China region.

Mr. Ye obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Southwest Jiaotong University (西南交通大學) in the PRC 
in July 1996. He obtained a master’s degree in law from Nankai University (南開大學) in the PRC in July 2003. He 
obtained the Certificate of National Legal Professional Qualification issued by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC in 
September 2002, and the Certificate of Patent Agent Qualification issued by the China National Intellectual Property 
Administration in March 2003.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Zhang Lele (張樂樂), aged 47, is our founder, executive Director and CEO. For more details of her biography, 
see “－Directors – Executive Directors” above.

Mr. Huang Yuqing (黃雨青), aged 35, is our executive Director and CFO. For more details of his biography, see 
“－Directors – Executive Directors” above.

Mr. Zhu Qi (朱琦), aged 52, joined our Group on 9 September 2019 and has been serving as the chief medical 
officer of our Group since then. He is primarily responsible for clinical operations, medical, pharmacovigilance, 
clinical pharmacology, statistics and data management, and medical support for product development and lifecycle 
management of the Group.

Mr. Zhu has more than 20 years of experiences in the medical industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhu worked 
in Shanghai Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (上海強生製藥有限公司) from August 2001 to May 2005. He 
then worked in Shanghai Roche Pharmaceuticals Limited (上海羅氏製藥有限公司) from May 2005 to July 2006 and 
worked in Nanjing Organon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Shanghai Branch (南京歐加農製藥有限公司上海分公司) from 
August 2006 to April 2007. From May 2007 to September 2010, Mr. Zhu worked in Baxter (China) Investment Co., 
Ltd. (百特(中國)投資有限公司), where he is responsible for medical affairs in Hong Kong and Chinese Mainland. He 
then served as director of medical affair in Shandong Bausch & Lomb Freda Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, a subsidiary 
of Bausch + Lomb Corporation, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: BLCO), and Biogen 
Idec Pharmaceutical Consultancy (Shanghai) Company Limited (百健艾迪醫藥諮詢(上海)有限公司), from October 
2010 to March 2013. From September 2013 to September 2015, he worked in AbbVie Pharmaceutical Trading 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (艾伯維醫藥貿易(上海)有限公司) as a medical affair associate director. Mr. Zhu also served as 
a medical affair director in the Shanghai branch of Wyeth Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (惠氏製藥有限公司上海分公司) 
from September 2015 to January 2018 and in Menarini (China) Investment Co. (美納裏尼(中國)投資有限公司) from 
February 2018 to August 2019.

Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese medicine and a master’s degree in Chinese medicine Surgery 
from Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine (上海中醫藥大學) in the PRC in July 1995 and July 2001, 
respectively. He also obtained a master’s degree of business administration from the Joint MBA program of Shanghai 
University of Finance and Economics-Webster University (上海財經大學－美國韋伯斯特大學合作培養工商管理碩士
項目) in the PRC in December 2005.
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Dr. Lei Lei (雷磊), aged 40, joined our Group on 10 January 2020 and has been serving as the senior vice president 
of research and development department of our Group since September 2022. He is primarily responsible for the 
overall research and development work of the Group.

Dr. Lei has over 10 years of experiences in the development of medical/pharmaceutical products. Prior to joining the 
Group, Dr. Lei served as a senior product development engineer responsible for development of medical products 
in 3M Medical Devices and Materials Manufacturing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (明尼蘇達礦業製造醫用器材(上海)有限公
司) from October 2012 to January 2017. From January 2017 to January 2020, he worked as a senior scientist and 
then a principal scientist in Shanghai Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (上海強生製藥有限公司).

Dr. Lei obtained a bachelor’s degree in Pharmaceutical Engineering and master’s degree in Biochemistry and 
Molecular Biology from Southwest Jiaotong University (西南交通大學) in the PRC in July 2006 and in December 2008, 
respectively. He also obtained a doctor’s degree in Pharmaceutical Science from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (
上海交通大學) in the PRC in January 2013. He has been a member of the Industrial Pharmaceutics Group of the 
Shanghai Pharmaceutical Society 2020 Pharmaceutics Special Committee (上海市藥學會 2020 藥劑學專委會工業
藥劑學組) since June 2021.

Ms. Zhang Chunna (張春娜), aged 46, joined our Group on 10 October 2019 and has been serving as the senior 
vice president of regulatory affairs department our Group since September 2022. She is primarily responsible for 
the development and registration of the Company’s products, the establishment and compliance management of 
product lines and research and development platforms of the Group.

Ms. Zhang has more than 15 years of experiences in the research and development pharmaceutical industry. Prior 
to joining the Group, Ms. Zhang served as an intermediate research and development staff in Shanghai Institute of 
Pharmaceutical Industry (上海醫藥工業研究院有限公司) from April 2004 to March 2006. From April 2006 to December 
2009, she served as a department director in Beijing Hanmi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (北京韓美藥品有限公司) where 
she was mainly responsible for development and manufacture of new drugs. From January 2010 to November 
2010 and from November 2010 to October 2019, she served as a manager of product development department in 
Senju Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd Beijing Office (日本千壽製藥株式會社北京代表處) and Senju Pharmaceutical Science 
& Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (千壽製藥科技(北京)有限公司), where she was mainly responsible for product 
development and regulatory affairs.

Ms. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree with a major in pharmacy (Japanese) from Shenyang Pharmaceutical 
University (瀋陽藥科大學) in the PRC in July 2001, and a master’s degree of medicine from Shanghai Jiao Tong 
University (上海交通大學) in the PRC in March 2004.
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Ms. Xu Jingxin (徐靜欣), aged 46, joined our Group on 1 December 2020 and has been serving as the senior 
vice president of manufacturing and quality control department of our Group since January 2022. She is primarily 
responsible for the management of the Company’s quality management system and production operations, including 
the project management and daily management of the plant under construction in Wuxi, the PRC.

Ms. Xu has more than 20 years of experiences in quality management of medical products. Prior to joining the 
Group, Ms. Xu worked in Pfizer Pharmaceutical (Wuxi) Co., Ltd. (輝瑞製藥(無錫)有限公司), a subsidiary of Pfizer 
Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (Stock Code: PFE), with her last position as a quality 
assurance manager from July 2001 to April 2010. She then served as various positions responsible for policy and 
strategy planning for quality improvement in Wuxi plant of AstraZeneca Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (阿斯利康製藥有
限公司), a subsidiary of AstraZeneca plc, listed on London Stock Exchange (stock code: ZAN), from April 2010 to 
September 2018. She then served as a quality manager responsible for policy and strategy planning for quality 
improvement in Japanese Yonehara plant of AstraZeneca Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (阿斯利康製藥有限公司) from 
September 2018 to February 2019. From February 2019 to November 2020, she also worked in BeiGene (Suzhou) 
Co., Ltd. (百濟神州(蘇州)生物科技有限公司) (currently known as SuGene Pharmaceuticals (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.), a 
subsidiary of BeiGene, Ltd. listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6160), the NASDAQ (stock code: BGNE) 
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688235) where she first served as a director of excellent quality 
operations management in China and then a quality manager.

Ms. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree with a major in pharmacy (Japanese) from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University 
(瀋陽藥科大學) in the PRC in July 2001.

Mr. Wu Jiaru (鄔佳儒), aged 41, joined our Group on 5 August 2019 and has been serving as the senior vice 
president of finance and integrated management department of our Group since 1 November 2022. He has served 
as a supervisor of Aurora Cutis from November 2020 to April 2021. He is primarily responsible for decision making 
and executive oversight of finance, information technology and procurement operations.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu served as a senior system controller in Giti Tire (China) Investment Company 
Ltd. (佳通輪胎(中國)投資有限公司), where he was mainly responsible for improvement and execution of financial 
policy, from October 2013 to February 2019. From February 2019 to July 2019, he served as a reporting expert in 
KaVo-Sybron Dental (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (卡瓦盛邦(上海)牙科醫療器械有限公司) where he was mainly responsible 
for analysis of financials as well as improvement and execution of financial system and operation process.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics  
(上海財經大學) in the PRC in July 2008. He was qualified as US Certified Public Accountant by Guam Board of 
Accountancy in March 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Sze Ting (陳詩婷) (“Ms. Chan”) was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 15 November 
2022. Ms. Chan is a director of the corporate services division of Tricor Services Limited (a member of Vistra Group), 
which is a global professional services supplier specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor services.

Ms. Chan has over 19 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been providing professional 
corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies.

Ms. Chan is a Chartered Secretary (CS), a Chartered Governance Professional (CGP) and a Fellow of both The 
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI) in the United 
Kingdom. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in law from the University of London, Britain.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Cutia Therapeutics
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cutia Therapeutics (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 
set out on pages 73 to 134, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed 
to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our 
audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Risk of misstatement of research and development expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred 
significant research and development (“R&D”) expenses 
amounting to approximately RMB199 million. Large portions 
of the Group’s R&D expenses were service fees paid to 
contract research organisations, clinical site management 
operators and clinical trial centres (collectively referred to as 
“Outsourced Service Providers”).

The R&D activities with these Outsourced Service Providers 
were documented in detailed contracts and were typically 
performed over an extended period. Recording of these 
expenses in the appropriate financial reporting period based 
on the progress of the research and development projects 
involves estimations.

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4 and 3 to the 
financial statements.

Our procedures included, among others:

• obtaining an understanding of key internal controls 
in relation to the accrual of the R&D expenses and 
performing walk-through tests for internal controls related 
to the accrual of the R&D expenses;

• checking contracts entered into with and progress reports 
received from the Outsourced Service Providers and 
testing key inputs used in the calculation such as patient 
enrolment, time lapsed and milestones achieved on a 
sampling basis to evaluate the key estimation adopted by 
management in setting up the accrual for R&D services 
received; and

• evaluating the adequacy of the accrual of the R&D 
expenses by comparing the subsequent milestone billings 
received from the Outsourced Service Providers, if any, 
with the accrued R&D expenses at the year end.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is 
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

72

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is HO Siu Fung, Terence.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

 

REVENUE 5 279,615 137,623
Cost of sales (136,152) (66,615)

Gross profit 143,463 71,008
Other income and gains 5 42,936 60,152
Selling and distribution expenses (263,658) (208,309)
Research and development expenses (199,045) (215,711)
Administrative expenses (141,873) (185,890)

Impairment losses on financial assets (430) (752)
Fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares – (1,454,280)
Other expenses 6 (4,344) (254)
Finance costs 8 (10,860) (4,477)
Listing expenses – (25,245)

LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (433,811) (1,963,758)
Income tax expense 11 – –

LOSS AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (433,811) (1,963,758)

Attributable to:
 Owners of the parent (433,811) (1,963,758)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic and diluted (RMB) 13 (1.41) (9.60)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 14 173,267 177,664
Right-of-use assets 15 47,662 48,344
Other intangible assets 16 8,895 7,810
Amounts due from related parties 29 36,431 36,494
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 17 39,865 20,169

Total non-current assets 306,120 290,481

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 19 74,692 45,314
Trade receivables 18 99,164 62,198
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 17 35,747 34,855
Amounts due from related parties 29 1,363 1,300
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 20 479,955 469,337
Time deposits over three months 21 10,530 330,192
Cash and cash equivalents 21 385,670 473,120

Total current assets 1,087,121 1,416,316

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 22 97,572 113,603
Lease liabilities 15 12,376 11,374
Deferred income – 400
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 23 213,303 129,411

Total current liabilities 323,251 254,788

NET CURRENT ASSETS 763,870 1,161,528

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,069,990 1,452,009



Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

75

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 15 45,260 42,970
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 23 50,000 60,000

Total non-current liabilities 95,260 102,970

Net assets 974,730 1,349,039

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 24 45 43
Treasury shares 24 (13,857) –
Reserves 25 988,542 1,348,996

Total equity 974,730 1,349,039

Zhang Lele Huang Yuqing
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2024

Ordinary 
share 

capital
Share 

premium*

Share 
option 

reserve*
Other 

reserve*
Accumulated 

losses*
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 11 259,156 161,474 (680,845) (986,112) (1,246,316)
Loss and total  

comprehensive  
loss for the year – – – – (1,963,758) (1,963,758)

Recognition of  
share-based payment  
expenses (note 26) – – 132,350 – – 132,350

Shares issued upon initial  
public offering (note 24) 3 402,459 – – – 402,462

Conversion of convertible 
redeemable preferred 
shares to ordinary shares 
upon initial public offering 
(note 24) 29 4,024,272 – – – 4,024,301

At 31 December 2023 43 4,685,887 293,824 (680,845) (2,949,870) 1,349,039
       

Ordinary 
share 

capital
Treasury 

shares
Share 

premium*

Share 
option 

reserve*
Other 

reserve*
Accumulated 

losses*
Total 

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2024 43 – 4,685,887 293,824 (680,845) (2,949,870) 1,349,039
Loss and total 

comprehensive  
loss for the year – – – – – (433,811) (433,811)

Recognition of  
share-based payment  
expenses  
(note 26) – – – 68,615 – – 68,615

Shares issued upon 
exercise of  
share options and 
restricted share units 
(note 24) 2 – 4,742 – – – 4,744

Shares repurchased  
(note 24) – (13,857) – – – – (13,857)

At 31 December 2024 45 (13,857) 4,690,629 362,439 (680,845) (3,383,681) 974,730
       

* These reserves accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of RMB988,542,000 (2023: RMB1,348,996,000) in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (433,811) (1,963,758)
Adjustments for:
 Interest income 5 (11,811) (23,414)
 Finance costs 8 10,860 4,477
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 28,622 30,851
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7 14,277 10,623
 Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6,7 359 247
 Amortisation of other intangible assets 7 1,663 1,010
 Loss/(gain) on termination of a lease contract 5,6,7 512 (37)
 Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 6,7 3,437 –
 Impairment losses on financial assets 7 430 752
 Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL 5,7 (21,988) (2,468)
 Fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares 7 – 1,454,280
 Net foreign exchange gains 5,7 (2,342) (20,801)
 Share-based payment expenses 7 68,615 132,350

(341,177) (375,888)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other receivables and  
other assets (18,661) 16,704

Decrease in amounts due from related parties 1,300 1,239
Increase in inventories (32,815) (25,318)
Increase in trade receivables (37,396) (62,852)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (13,835) 64,803
Decrease in deferred income (400) –

Net cash flows used in operating activities (442,984) (381,312)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 13,131 28,443
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (22,571) (55,730)
Disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 12 8
Purchases of items of other intangible assets (3,106) (184)
Repayment received on loans from employees 22 14
Placement of time deposits (52,872) (430,859)
Withdrawal of time deposits 370,088 678,105
Placement of financial assets at FVTPL (240,000) (508,301)
Withdrawal of financial assets at FVTPL 251,370 84,928

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 316,074 (203,576)
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares – 422,524
Interest of bank borrowings paid (7,402) (1,796)
New bank borrowings 203,447 189,200
Repayment of the bank borrowings (129,200) –
Payment for rental deposits (50) (1,131)
Lease payments 15 (13,907) (11,574)
Issue costs paid (5,933) (8,904)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 4,744 –
Payment for repurchase of shares (13,857) –

Net cash flows from financing activities 37,842 588,319

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (89,068) 3,431
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 473,120 465,866
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 1,618 3,823

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 385,670 473,120
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2024

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Cutia Therapeutics (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability 
on 15 May 2019 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 June 2023. The registered 
office address of the Company is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman 
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment holding company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in developing innovative and comprehensive 
solutions that are tailored to meet the diverse and evolving needs of patients and consumers in the broader dermatology 
treatment and care market.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
business

Issued ordinary/
registered share 

capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect Indirect

Cutia Therapeutics (HK) Limited (“Cutia HK”) 
(科笛生物醫藥(香港)有限公司)

Hong Kong USD1 100 – Cross-border operational matters 
and product commercialisation of 
the Group

Cutia Therapeutics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* 
(“Cutia Shanghai”) 
(科笛生物醫藥(上海)有限公司)

The People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”)/ 
Mainland China

USD90,086,747 – 100 Product research and development

Aurora Cutis Medical Technology (Shanghai)  
Co., Ltd.* (“Aurora Cutis”) 
(晨笛醫藥科技(上海)有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB130,000,000 – 100 Commercialisation of  
self-developed products in  
the domestic market

Cutia Therapeutics (Wuxi) Co., Ltd.* 
(“Cutia Wuxi”) 
(科笛生物醫藥(無錫)有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 – 100 Product manufacturing and product 
commercialisation in the domestic 
market

Chongqing Lehao Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* 
(“Chongqing Lehao”) 
(重慶樂豪醫藥有限公司)

PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 – 100 Commercialisation of dermatoses 
pharmaceutical products 
developed by third-party 
manufacturers or the Group in  
the domestic market

* These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results 
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in 
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (which include 
all International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain 
financial instruments which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi 
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for 
the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, 
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., 
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the Company has less than 
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of 
a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any 
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment 
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis 
as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year’s 
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
Amendments to IAS 7 and 
 IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards are described below:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability 
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount 
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback 
transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring from the 
date of initial application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

(b) The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including 
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting 
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer 
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that 
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the 
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants 
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or before the 
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are 
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 
months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and 
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged upon initial 
application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Group.

(c) Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require 
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended 
to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an 
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance 
arrangements, the amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued 
but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised IFRS 
Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements3

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to IFRS 9 
 and IFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity2

Amendments to IFRS 9 
 and IFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments2

Amendments to IFRS 10 
 and IAS 28

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or  
 Joint Venture4

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability1

Annual Improvements to 
 IFRS Accounting 
 Standards – Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards (Continued)

The application of IFRS 18 will have no impact on the consolidated statements of financial position of the Group, 
but will have impact on the presentation of the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income. Except for IFRS 18, the directors of the Company anticipate that these new and revised IFRS Accounting 
Standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial position 
in the foreseeable future.

2.4 Material accounting policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, 
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal 
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1  – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 
inventories, financial assets and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs 
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, 
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment 
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price 
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the 
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of 
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them 
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are 
as follows:

Machinery and equipment 9% to 18%
Office and electronic equipment 18% to 30%
Motor vehicles 23%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease 

terms and estimated useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated 
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and 
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal 
or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to 
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets 
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the 
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis over the following useful economic lives, which is 
determined by the expected usage period after considering technical obsolescence and estimates of useful lives 
of similar assets:

Software 2 to 10 years

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its 
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the 
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying 
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use 
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of 
the assets as follows:

Plant 12 years
Office premises 1 to 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on 
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments 
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and 
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After 
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future 
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to 
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented in a separate line on the consolidated statements of financial 
position.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office premises 
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do 
not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets 
to leases of office equipment that is considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value 
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of 
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its 
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set 
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) 
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured 
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual 
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are 
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, 
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within 
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets 
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value 
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. This category includes derivative instruments.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from the 
host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related 
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment occurs if there is a 
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The 
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial 
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; 
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the 
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible 
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in 
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information 
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account 
any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified 
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified 
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition 
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but 
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or 
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical 
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach 
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision 
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, or making reference to the credit loss experience of 
similar companies in the market where the Group has not had sufficient credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, 
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance 
costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are 
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the moving weighted 
average method and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any 
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the 
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and 
deductible temporary differences; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and 
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities 
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to 
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable 
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue 
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of 
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the 
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate 
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a 
financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue 
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective 
interest method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the 
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant 
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the 
customer, generally on delivery of the products to the specific location and upon the confirmation by the customer.

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the products within a specific period, the expected 
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this method best predicts the 
amount of variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining 
estimates of variable consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of variable consideration that 
can be included in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund 
liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised 
for the right to recover products from a customer.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Bank interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a 
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan”). Employees (including 
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render 
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled 
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The 
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative 
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in 
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair 
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of 
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the 
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, 
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award 
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not been 
met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are 
treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms 
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it 
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central 
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as 
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group’s subsidiary which operates in Hong Kong operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund 
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those 
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage 
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with 
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in 
an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when 
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the 
Group uses RMB as its functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group 
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates 
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss 
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the 
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss 
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition 
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction 
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the 
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction 
date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred. Costs incurred on each pipeline to develop new products are 
capitalised and deferred in accordance with the accounting policy for research and development costs in note 2.4 to the 
financial statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management to make judgments on the technical 
feasibility of existing pipelines to be successfully commercialised and bring economic benefits to the Group.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below.

Accrual of research and development costs

The Group relies on contract research organisations, clinical site management operators and clinical trial centres 
(collectively referred as “Outsourced Service Providers”) to conduct, supervise, and monitor the Group’s ongoing clinical 
trials in the PRC. Determining the amounts of research and development costs incurred up to the end of each reporting 
period requires the management of the Group to estimate and measure the progress of receiving research and development 
services under the contracts with Outsourced Service Providers using inputs such as the number of patient enrolments, 
time elapsed and milestone achieved.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, 
financial assets and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is 
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to 
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable operating segment, which is developing innovative and 
comprehensive solutions that are tailored to meet the diverse and evolving needs of patients and consumers in the broader 
dermatology treatment and care market. Since this is the only reportable operating segment of the Group, no further 
operating segment analysis thereof is presented.

Geographical information

During the reporting period, all of the Group’s revenue was derived from customers located in the PRC and nearly all of 
the Group’s non-current assets were located in the PRC, and therefore no geographical segment information is presented 
in accordance with IFRS 8 Operation Segments.

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to customers, which amounted to more than 10% of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 
31 December 2024 and 2023, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A 73,022 NA*
Customer B 41,033 27,587

* The corresponding revenue did not amount to more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year 
concerned.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of products – at a point in time 279,615 137,623

There was no revenue recognised during the reporting period that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning 
of each reporting period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods. Under the practical 
expedient allowed by IFRS 15, the Group does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligation.

Performance obligations

Sale of products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of products to the customers’ specific locations and confirmation 
by the customers. The payment is generally made upon confirmation by the customers or due within 30 to 120 days from 
the acceptance by the customers.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income

Government grants* 5,966 11,930
Bank interest income 9,945 21,758
Imputed interest income on rental and other deposits 311 173
Deemed interest income from loans to employees 255 244
Deemed interest income from loans to related parties (note 29) 1,300 1,239
Others 829 1,502

Total other income 18,606 36,846

Gains

Foreign exchange gains, net 2,342 20,801
Gain on termination of a lease contract – 37
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL 21,988 2,468

Total gains 24,330 23,306

Total other income and gains 42,936 60,152

* The government grants have been received from the PRC local government authorities to support certain 
subsidiaries’ operating activities. There are no unfulfilled conditions relating to these government grants.

6. OTHER EXPENSES
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 359 247
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 3,437 –
Loss on termination of a lease contract 512 –
Others 36 7

Total 4,344 254



Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

98

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of sales 136,152 66,615
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 
 (included in research and development costs) 4,208 5,410
Research and development costs 199,045 215,711
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 28,622 30,851
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14,277 10,623
Amortisation of other intangible assets 1,663 1,010
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 359 247
Loss/(gain) on termination of a lease contract 512 (37)
Impairment losses on financial assets
 – Impairment of trade receivables 430 752
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 3,437 –
Bank interest income (9,945) (21,758)
Government grants (5,966) (11,930)
Fair value gains on financial assets at FVTPL (21,988) (2,468)
Listing expenses – 25,245
Fair value losses on convertible redeemable preferred shares – 1,454,280
Foreign exchange differences, net (2,342) (20,801)
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments):
 – Independent non-executive directors’ fee 1,050 603
 – Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind 136,897 118,270
 – Pension scheme contributions 12,728 9,449
 – Share-based payment expenses 68,615 132,350

Total 219,290 260,672

Auditors’ remuneration 3,780 3,780

Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities 675 636
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8. FINANCE COSTS
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank borrowings 7,047 2,007
Interest on lease liabilities 3,813 2,470

Total 10,860 4,477

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), 
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits 
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 1,050 603

Other emoluments:
 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,111 6,015
 Performance related bonuses* 2,511 5,260
 Pension scheme contributions 89 86
 Share-based payment expenses 27,913 55,956

Subtotal 36,624 67,317

Total 37,674 67,920

* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to performance related bonus payments.

In prior years, certain directors were granted share options and restricted share units, in respect of their services to the 
Group, under the equity incentive plan of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 26 to the financial 
statements. The fair value of such share options and restricted share units, which has been recognised in profit or loss 
over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for 
the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Mr. Chung Ming Kit 350 201
Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis 350 201
Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang 350 201

Total 1,050 603

Mr. Chung Ming Kit, Mr. Tao Tak Yan Dennis and Mr. Ye Xiaoxiang were appointed as independent non-executive 
directors of the Company with effect from 12 June 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Performance 
related 

bonuses

Pension 
scheme 

contributions

Share-based 
payment 

expenses 
(note (i)) Total

2024 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors:
Ms. Zhang Lele (Chief
  executive officer) (note (ii)) – 2,886 1,246 73 22,879 27,084
Mr. Huang Yuqing – 3,225 1,265 16 5,034 9,540

Subtotal – 6,111 2,511 89 27,913 36,624

Non-executive directors:
Dr. Chen Lianyong – – – – – –
Dr. Xie Qin – – – – – –
Mr. Huang Xiao – – – – – –
Ms. Yang Yunxia – – – – – –

Subtotal – – – – – –

Total – 6,111 2,511 89 27,913 36,624
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive (Continued)

Fees

Salaries, 
bonuses, 

allowances 
and benefits 

in kind

Performance 
related 

bonuses

Pension 
scheme 

contributions

Share-based 
payment 

expenses 
(note (i)) Total

2023 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors:
Ms. Zhang Lele (Chief 
 executive officer) (note (ii)) – 2,850 1,312 70 46,370 50,602
Mr. Huang Yuqing (note (iii)) – 3,165 3,948 16 9,586 16,715

Subtotal – 6,015 5,260 86 55,956 67,317

Non-executive directors:
Dr. Chen Lianyong – – – – – –
Dr. Xie Qin – – – – – –
Mr. Huang Xiao – – – – – –
Ms. Yang Yunxia – – – – – –

Subtotal – – – – – –

Total – 6,015 5,260 86 55,956 67,317

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year.

Notes:

(i) No cash settlement alternatives for those share-based payments.

(ii) Ms. Zhang Lele was also the chief executive of the Company and her remuneration disclosed above included 
the remuneration for the services rendered by her as the chief executive.

(iii) The Salaries, bonuses, allowance and benefits in kind of Mr. Huang Yuqing during the prior reporting period 
included one-time incentive payments amounting to HKD3,000,000 upon the successful initial public offering.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors, including the chief executive (2023: two directors, 
including the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for 
the year of the remaining three (2023: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the 
Company are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind 5,502 5,597
Performance related bonuses* 474 592
Pension scheme contributions 190 188
Share-based payment expenses 14,317 23,129

Total 20,483 29,506

* Certain highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are entitled to 
performance related bonus payments.

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following 
bands is as follows:

2024 2023
Number of 
employees

Number of 
employees

HKD7,000,001 to HKD7,500,000 2 –
HKD8,000,001 to HKD8,500,000 1 –
HKD9,500,001 to HKD10,000,000 – 1
HKD11,000,001 to HKD11,500,000 – 1
HKD11,500,001 to HKD12,000,000 – 1

Total 3 3
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
In prior years, share options and restricted share units were granted to the non-director and non-chief executive highest 
paid employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note 
26 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options and restricted share units, which has been recognised in 
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial 
statements for the current year is included in the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ 
remuneration disclosures.

During the year, no highest paid employees waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and no remuneration was 
paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office.

11. INCOME TAX
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members 
of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on income or capital gains. In addition, 
upon payments of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax is imposed on the 
Company.

Hong Kong

The subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to Hong Kong profits tax at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on any 
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. No Hong Kong profits tax was provided for as the 
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Mainland China

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China and the respective regulations (the “CIT 
Law”), the subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are subject to CIT at a rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the taxable 
income during the year.

Pursuant to the relevant CIT Law, Cutia Wuxi enjoyed a super deduction of 200% on qualifying research and development 
expenditures during the reporting period.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction in which the 
Company and its major subsidiaries are domiciled and operate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss before tax (433,811) (1,963,758)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) (108,453) (490,940)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 18,700 394,793
Additional deductible allowance for research and development expenses (11,718) (18,461)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 79,680 97,783
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not recognised 15,899 9,606
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 5,892 7,219

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate – –



Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

104

11. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Mainland China (Continued)

The Group has accumulated tax losses in Hong Kong of approximately RMB169,849,000 (2023: RMB100,525,000) 
in aggregate as at 31 December 2024 that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the 
company in which the losses arose. The Group has accumulated tax losses in Mainland China of RMB1,100,405,000 
(2023: RMB827,439,000) in aggregate as at 31 December 2024 that would expire in one to five years for offsetting against 
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

The Group has unrecognised deductible temporary differences of RMB123,264,000 (2023: RMB59,668,000) as at 31 
December 2024. The unrecognised deductible temporary differences are mainly related to the advertising and promotional 
expenses that exceed 15% of the revenue for the current tax year which is allowed to be carried forward to the following 
tax years for deduction within the deduction limit.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses and temporary differences as they have arisen 
in the subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits in 
foreseeable future will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

12. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024, nor 
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 307,192,968 (2023: 204,614,716) outstanding 
during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount presented for the year ended 31 December 2024 in 
respect of a dilution as the impact of share options and restricted share units had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss 
per share amount presented. No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount presented for the years 
ended 31 December 2023 in respect of a dilution as the impact of convertible redeemable preferred shares, over-allocation 
option, share options and restricted share units had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on:

2024 2023

Loss
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for the purpose 
 of calculating basic and diluted loss per share (RMB’000) (433,811) (1,963,758)

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 
 used in the basic and diluted loss per share calculation 307,192,968 204,614,716

Loss per share (basic and diluted) (RMB per share) (1.41) (9.60)
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Machinery 

and 
equipment

Office and 
electronic 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Leasehold 

improvements

Construction 
in progress 

(“CIP”) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2024
At 1 January 2024:
 Cost 66,984 6,433 888 148,692 2,483 225,480
 Accumulated depreciation (13,650) (1,614) (379) (32,173) – (47,816)

 Net carrying amount 53,334 4,819 509 116,519 2,483 177,664

At 1 January 2024, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 53,334 4,819 509 116,519 2,483 177,664
Additions 14,560 1,596 – 2,409 5,990 24,555
Transfer from CIP 154 – – 5,211 (5,365) –
Disposals (318) (12) – – – (330)
Depreciation provided during 
 the year (10,310) (1,622) (199) (16,491) – (28,622)

At 31 December 2024, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 57,420 4,781 310 107,648 3,108 173,267

At 31 December 2024:
 Cost 81,087 7,910 888 156,312 3,108 249,305
 Accumulated depreciation (23,667) (3,129) (578) (48,664) – (76,038)

 Net carrying amount 57,420 4,781 310 107,648 3,108 173,267
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Machinery 

and 
equipment

Office and 
electronic 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Leasehold 

improvements CIP Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2023
At 1 January 2023:
 Cost 49,339 2,671 888 136,378 7,226 196,502
 Accumulated depreciation (5,649) (560) (179) (10,716) – (17,104)

 Net carrying amount 43,690 2,111 709 125,662 7,226 179,398

At 1 January 2023, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 43,690 2,111 709 125,662 7,226 179,398
Additions 15,248 3,851 – 9,920 7,967 36,986
Transfer from CIP 2,702 – – 2,394 (5,096) –
Transfer to other intangible assets – – – – (7,614) (7,614)
Disposals (218) (37) – – – (255)
Depreciation provided during 
 the year (8,088) (1,106) (200) (21,457) – (30,851)

At 31 December 2023, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 53,334 4,819 509 116,519 2,483 177,664

At 31 December 2023:
 Cost 66,984 6,433 888 148,692 2,483 225,480
 Accumulated depreciation (13,650) (1,614) (379) (32,173) – (47,816)

 Net carrying amount 53,334 4,819 509 116,519 2,483 177,664

At 31 December 2024, no property, plant and equipment were pledged (2023: Nil).
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15. LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant and office premises used in its operations. Leases of plant 
generally have lease terms of 12 years, while office premises generally have lease terms between 1 and 6 years. Generally, 
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Plant Office premises Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2023 17,663 31,947 49,610
Additions – 9,720 9,720
Depreciation charge (1,643) (8,980) (10,623)
Termination of a lease contract – (363) (363)

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 16,020 32,324 48,344
Additions 12,148 5,250 17,398
Depreciation charge (4,074) (10,203) (14,277)
Termination of a lease contract – (3,803) (3,803)

As at 31 December 2024 24,094 23,568 47,662

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 54,344 54,128
New leases 17,398 9,720
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 3,813 2,470
Termination of a lease contract (3,934) (400)
Payments (13,907) (11,574)
Settled with rental deposit (78) –

Carrying amount at 31 December 57,636 54,344

Analysed into:
 Current portion 12,376 11,374
 Non-current portion 45,260 42,970
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed into:
 Lease liabilities repayable:
  Within one year 12,376 11,374
  Within a period of more than one year, but not 
   exceeding two years 12,063 12,160
  Within a period of more than two years, but not 
   exceeding five years 18,317 19,906
  Over five years 14,880 10,904

 Total 57,636 54,344

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 3,813 2,470
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 14,277 10,623
Loss/(gain) on termination of a lease contract* 512 (37)
Expenses relating to short-term leases 475 352
Expenses relating to low-value assets 200 284

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 19,277 13,692

* Included a loss of a rental deposit of RMB643,000.

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 27(c) to the financial statements.
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software
RMB’000

At 1 January 2024:
 Cost 9,225
 Accumulated amortisation (1,415)

 Net carrying amount 7,810

Cost at 1 January 2024, net of accumulated amortisation 7,810
Additions 2,748
Amortisation provided during the year (1,663)

At 31 December 2024 8,895

At 31 December 2024:
 Cost 11,973
 Accumulated amortisation (3,078)

 Net carrying amount 8,895

Software
RMB’000

At 1 January 2023:
 Cost 1,002
 Accumulated amortisation (405)

 Net carrying amount 597

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated amortisation 597
Additions 609
Transfer from CIP 7,614
Amortisation provided during the year (1,010)

At 31 December 2023 7,810

At 31 December 2023:
 Cost 9,225
 Accumulated amortisation (1,415)

 Net carrying amount 7,810
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17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current:
Loans to employees* 5,454 5,221
Deemed prepaid remuneration to employees* 1,768 2,043
Rental and other deposits 8,398 7,670
Value-added tax recoverable 16,915 –
Prepayments for purchase of items of other intangible assets 430 72
Prepayments for purchase of items of property, plant and equipment 6,900 5,163

Total 39,865 20,169

Current:
Rental deposits 2,726 733
Deemed prepaid remuneration to employees* 267 256
Prepayments 28,534 20,392
Other receivables 1,902 5,318
Value-added tax recoverable 2,318 8,156

Total 35,747 34,855

* The Group provided unsecured and non-interest-bearing loans of RMB7,542,000 to employees in prior years, 
with terms ranging from 7.5 years to 10 years. On initial recognition, the receivables were measured at fair value, 
which in this case were equal to the loan amounts given discounted to the present value using an effective interest 
rate of 4.90%. The difference between the loan amounts and their fair values was treated as deemed prepaid 
remuneration to employees and was amortised through the expected service period over the loan terms. Repayment 
of RMB22,000 on loans was received from employees upon resignation for the year ended 31 December 2024 
(2023: RMB14,000).

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default 
and past due amounts. In addition, there is no significant change in the economic factors based on the assessment of 
the forward-looking information, so the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the ECLs in respect of these 
balances are minimal.
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 100,346 62,950
Impairment (1,182) (752)

Net carrying amount 99,164 62,198

The Group’s trading terms with some of its customers are on credit. The Group primarily allows a credit period of 30 to 
120 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group has certain 
concentrations of credit risk as the Group’s trade receivables are due from a few customers. The Group does not hold any 
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of 
loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 54,610 21,268
1 month to 6 months 43,971 40,824
6 months to 12 months 500 106
Over 12 months 83 –

Total 99,164 62,198

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 752 –
Impairment losses, net 430 752

At end of year 1,182 752
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by 
customer type). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject 
to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

Ageing

Within 1 to 6 6 to 12 Over 12
1 month months months months Total

Expected credit loss rate 1.00% 1.39% 1.38% 3.49% 1.18%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 55,160 44,593 507 86 100,346
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 550 622 7 3 1,182

As at 31 December 2023

Ageing

Within 1 to 6 6 to 12
1 month months months Total

Expected credit loss rate 1.04% 1.27% 2.75% 1.19%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 21,492 41,349 109 62,950
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 224 525 3 752

19. INVENTORIES
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 2,282 2,234
Finished goods 72,409 43,080

Total 74,692 45,314
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial products 479,955 469,337

The financial assets measured at FVTPL represented financial products with no predetermined return which are principal 
protected investments. The financial products are with expected yield rates, depending on the market prices of underlying 
financial instruments, including bonds, debentures and other financial assets. Hence their contractual cash flows do not 
qualify for solely payments of principal and interest. The expected yield rates ranged from 1.5% to 4.5% per annum as at 
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 1.5% to 4.5% per annum).

21. TIME DEPOSITS OVER THREE MONTHS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Time deposits over three months

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Time deposits over three months 10,530 330,192

Denominated in
 RMB – 193,420
 United States dollars (“US$”) 10,530 136,772

The time deposits are placed with banks in the PRC with a term of over three months upon placement, which carry interest 
at a fixed rate 3.83% (2023: between 2.05% and 5.40%) per annum as at 31 December 2024.

Cash and cash equivalents

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 385,670 473,120

Denominated in
 RMB 226,758 424,381
 US$ 155,008 47,885
 Other currencies 3,904 854

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control 
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is 
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for 
varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits over three months are 
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 12,821 20,292
Accrued expenses for research and development services 20,849 23,105
Payables for purchase of items of property, plant and equipment 7,175 3,454
Other payables 31,503 41,208
Salary and bonus payables 12,107 11,735
Other taxes payable 6,567 1,342
Accrued listing expenses 6,550 12,467

Total 97,572 113,603

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 3 months 12,821 20,292

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of financial 
liabilities included in trade and other payables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 approximated to their fair values due 
to their short-term maturities.

23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
2024 2023

Effective 
interest 
rate (%) Maturity

Amount 
RMB’000

Effective 
interest 

rate (%) Maturity
Amount 

RMB’000

Current
Bank loans – unsecured 1.80-3.21 2025 167,603 3.19-3.65 2024 89,411
Bank loans – unsecured One-year Loan prime 

rate (“LPR”)-105 
Basepoints (“bps”) 2025 5,700 – – –

Current portion of long term bank 
 loans – secured (note) 3.45 2025 40,000 3.45 2024 40,000

Total – current 213,303 129,411

Non-current
Other secured bank loans (note) 3.45 2026 20,000 3.45 2025-2026 60,000

Bank loans – unsecured
One-year 

LPR-20 bps 2026 30,000 – – –

Total – non-current 50,000 60,000

Total 263,303 189,411
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed into:
 Bank loans repayable:
  Within one year or on demand 213,303 129,411
  In the second year 50,000 40,000
  In the third to fifth years, inclusive – 20,000

Total 263,303 189,411

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following currency:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 263,303 189,411

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings by type of interest rate is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed interest rate 227,603 189,411
Variable interest rate 35,700 –

Total 263,303 189,411

Note: The Company has guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans up to RMB120,000,000 as at the end of the 
reporting period.

24. SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES
Shares

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Issued and fully paid:
319,950,581 ordinary shares of 
 US$0.00002 each (2023: 304,024,465 ordinary shares of 
 US$0.00002 each) 45 43
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24. SHARE CAPITAL/TREASURY SHARES (CONTINUED)
Shares (Continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of shares 
in issue Share capital

RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 16,009,142 11
Share Subdivision 64,036,568 –
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred shares
 to ordinary shares upon initial public offering 202,696,955 29
Issue of shares upon initial public offering 21,281,800 3

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 304,024,465 43
Shares issued upon exercise of equity-settled
 share-based payment (note 26) 15,926,116 2

At 31 December 2024 319,950,581 45

Treasury shares

Number of shares 
repurchased Treasury shares

RMB’000

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 – –
Shares repurchased (note (a)) 1,362,600 13,857

At 31 December 2024 1,362,600 13,857

Note:

a The board of directors of the Company exercised its powers under the repurchase mandate, passed on 5 June 
2024 at the annual general meeting of the Company, to repurchase shares of the Company. A total of 1,362,600 
shares were repurchased at a total consideration of HK$15,146,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB13,857,000) 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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25. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserve of the Group represents the excess of the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests acquired over the 
consideration and the present value of the amount payable at the time of redemption of a put option over non-controlling 
interests.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the share-based payment reserve related to the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan.

Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents the share premium contributed by the shareholders of the Company.

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan

The Company operates the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, which was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 23 
August 2019, for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of 
the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan include any officers, directors, employees 
of the Group, and any individual consultants or advisors who render or have rendered bona fide services to the Group.

The directors of the Company approved up to 3,990,858 shares of the Company after the sub-division of ordinary shares 
on 23 August 2019, in which options may be granted under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. On 6 January 2021, a 
resolution was passed by the board of directors of the Company to increase the capacity of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive 
Plan to 6,713,843 shares. On 30 November 2021, a resolution was passed by the board of directors of the Company 
to increase the capacity of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan to 14,137,134 shares. After taking account of the Share 
Subdivision, the capacity of the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan was increased to 70,685,670 shares.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have a past practice of cash settlement for these share 
options and restricted share units. The Group accounts for the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan as an equity-settled plan.

Share options and restricted share units do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ 
meetings.

(a) Share options

On 23 August 2019, 219,429 share options (“Batch 1”), which can be vested immediately, were granted to one 
consultant of the Group. During the prior years, 3,162,856 share options (“Batch 2”), 183,600 share options (“Batch 
3”), 355,027 share options (“Batch 4”), 2,069,182 share options (“Batch 5”), 460,641 share options (“Batch 6”), 
109,248 share options (“Batch 7”), 59,812 share options (“Batch 8”) and 421,440 (“Batch 9”) were granted to 
certain directors, certain employees and consultants of the Group. After taking account of the Share Subdivision, 
the share options of the respective batches have been increased to 1,097,145, 15,814,280, 918,000, 1,775,135, 
10,345,910, 2,303,205, 546,240, 299,060 and 2,107,200, respectively.
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Share options (Continued)

The share options have a service condition that shall vest over a 60-month period, consisting of a cliff vesting of 
20% of the share options on the first year anniversary of the vesting commencement date and a vesting of 1/60th 
of the share options upon each successive monthly anniversary (or if there is no corresponding day, on the last 
day of such month) for the next 48 months following such first year anniversary. As for Batch 8 and Batch 9, in 
addition to time-based vesting condition, the number of share options which shall vest also depends on the specific 
performance target which is that grantees shall receive at least 3 points in the performance target annual review 
during the vesting period. Also, pursuant to the board resolution dated on 30 November 2021, in case of a listing, 
the vesting schedule of the unvested share options shall be accelerated by 50% on the six-month anniversary of 
the listing date (the “Acceleration Date”), provided that the participants have been employed by or provided services 
to the Group for at least one year upon the Acceleration Date (the “Modification”).

The exercise period of the share options will expire after ten years from the vesting commencement date.

The following share options were outstanding under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan during the year:

2024 2023
Weighted 

average 
exercise price

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

options

USD per share USD per share

At 1 January 0.19 33,255,305 0.97 6,710,541
Share subdivision – – 0.19 26,842,164
Forfeited during the year 0.40 (124,495) 0.40 (297,400)
Exercised during the year 0.06 (11,014,645) – –

At 31 December 0.26 22,116,165 0.19 33,255,305

The exercise prices and the fair value of the share options outstanding as at the end of each reporting period are 
as follows:

2024

Number of 
share options 

outstanding Exercise price
Fair value at 

grant date

USD per share USD per share

Batch 1 1,097,145 0.00002 0.0404
Batch 2 4,799,635 0.06 0.2689-0.2697
Batch 3 918,000 0.06 0.2689-0.2693
Batch 4 576,870 0.06 0.8764-0.8771
Batch 5 9,892,030 0.06/0.396 0.6037-0.8879
Batch 6 2,303,205 0.06/0.396 0.7083-0.9579
Batch 7 465,530 0.396 0.9261
Batch 8 243,345 0.06/0.396 0.9915-1.2918
Batch 9 1,820,405 0.06/0.396 0.8916-1.1999

22,116,165



Cutia Therapeutics 
Annual Report 2024

119

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Share options (Continued)

2023

Number of 
share options 

outstanding Exercise price
Fair value at 

grant date

USD per share USD per share

Batch 1 1,097,145 0.00002 0.0404
Batch 2 15,814,280 0.06 0.2689-0.2697
Batch 3 918,000 0.06 0.2689-0.2693
Batch 4 576,870 0.06 0.8764-0.8771
Batch 5 9,901,830 0.06/0.396 0.6037-0.8879
Batch 6 2,303,205 0.06/0.396 0.7083-0.9579
Batch 7 484,085 0.396 0.9261
Batch 8 243,345 0.06/0.396 0.9915-1.2918
Batch 9 1,916,545 0.06/0.396 0.8916-1.1999

33,255,305

(b) Restricted share units (the “RSUs”)

On 1 December 2021, 28 February 2022, 19 October 2022 and 20 November 2022, 369,715 RSUs, 3,097,989 
RSUs, 1,944,883 RSUs and 1,952,418 RSUs were granted to two directors and certain employees of the Group, 
respectively. After taking account of the Share Subdivision, the RSUs of the respective batches have been increased 
to 1,848,575, 15,489,945, 9,724,415 and 9,762,090, respectively.

Except for the RSUs granted on 20 November 2022, the RSUs have a service condition that shall vest over a 4-year 
period, consisting of a cliff vesting of 25% of the RSUs on the first year anniversary of the vesting commencement 
date and an additional 25% of the RSUs upon each successive anniversary for the next 3 years following such 
first year anniversary. As for the RSUs granted on 20 November 2022, the RSUs have a service condition that 
shall vest over a 4.5-year period, consisting of a cliff vesting of 25% of the RSUs on the first year and a half 
year anniversary of the vesting commencement date and an additional 25% of the RSUs upon each successive 
anniversary for the next 3 years following such first and a half year anniversary, provided that the Company has 
consummated an initial public offering of the Company and listing of the Company’s shares on a stock exchange. 
In addition to a time-based vesting condition, the number of restricted share units which shall vest also depends 
on the specific performance target which is the grantees shall receive at least 3 points in the performance target 
annual review during the vesting period.

The exercise period of the RSUs will expire after ten years from the vesting commencement date.
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Restricted share units (the “RSUs”) (Continued)

The following RSUs were outstanding under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan during the year:

2024 2023
Weighted 

average 
exercise price

Number of 
RSUs

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

RSUs

USD per share USD per share

At 1 January 0.00002 35,747,115 0.0001 7,325,321
Share Subdivision – – 0.00002 29,301,284
Forfeited during the year 0.00002 (437,945) 0.00002 (879,490)
Exercised during the year 0.00002 (4,911,471) – –

At 31 December 0.00002 30,397,699 0.00002 35,747,115

The exercise prices and the fair value of the RSUs outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

Grant date
Number of 

RSUs outstanding Exercise price
Fair value at 

grant date

USD per share USD per share

1 December 2021 1,393,185 0.00002 1.2820
28 February 2022 15,231,645 0.00002 1.3510
19 October 2022 4,999,939 0.00002 1.2584
20 November 2022 8,772,930 0.00002 1.2584

30,397,699

As at 31 December 2023

Grant date
Number of 

RSUs outstanding Exercise price
Fair value at 

grant date

USD per share USD per share

1 December 2021 1,612,835 0.00002 1.2820
28 February 2022 15,247,905 0.00002 1.3510
19 October 2022 9,716,215 0.00002 1.2584
20 November 2022 9,170,160 0.00002 1.2584

35,747,115
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Restricted share units (the “RSUs”) (Continued)

An aggregate number of 11,014,645 share options and 4,911,471 RSUs were exercised during the year, resulting 
in the issue of 15,926,116 ordinary shares of the Company for a total cash consideration of RMB4,744,000 and 
new share capital of RMB2,000 (before issue expense).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 22,116,165 share options and 30,397,699 RSUs outstanding 
under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options and RSUs would, 
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 52,513,864 additional ordinary shares of 
the Company and additional share capital of USD1,050 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 22,112,110 share options and 30,351,929 
RSUs outstanding under the Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan, which represented approximately 16.5% of the 
Company’s issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at that date.

The total share-based payment expenses recognised in profit or loss for share options and RSUs were 
approximately RMB68,615,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024(2023: RMB132,350,000).

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets of RMB17,398,000 (2023: RMB9,720,000) 
and non-cash additions to lease liabilities of RMB17,398,000 (2023: RMB9,720,000), respectively, in respect of 
lease arrangements for office premises.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Accrued listing 
expenses 

included in 
other payables

Lease 
liabilities

Convertible 
redeemable 

preferred 
shares

Interest-
bearing bank 

borrowings Total

At 1 January 2023 18,613 54,128 2,570,021 – 2,642,762
Changes from financing cash flows (8,904) (11,574) – 187,404 166,926
Changes from operating cash flows (36,341) – – – (36,341)
Listing expenses 25,245 – – – 25,245
Interest on bank borrowings – – – 2,007 2,007
Deferred issue costs 13,854 – – – 13,854
Accretion of interest – 2,470 – – 2,470
New leases – 9,720 – – 9,720
Termination of a lease contract – (400) – – (400)
Changes in fair value – – 1,454,280 – 1,454,280
Conversion of convertible redeemable 
 preferred shares to ordinary shares 
 upon initial public offering – – (4,024,301) – (4,024,301)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 12,467 54,344 – 189,411 256,222
Changes from financing cash flows (5,933) (13,907) – 66,845 47,005
Interest on bank borrowings – – – 7,047 7,047
Accretion of interest – 3,813 – – 3,813
New leases – 17,398 – – 17,398
Termination of a lease contract – (3,934) – – (3,934)
Settled with rental deposit – (78) – – (78)
Foreign exchange movement 16 – – – 16

At 31 December 2024 6,550 57,636 – 263,303 327,489
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within operating activities 675 636
Within financing activities 13,907 11,574

14,582 12,210

28. COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment, and other intangible assets 4,990 3,190

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) The Group had the following transactions with related parties during the year:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deemed interest income from loans to key management (note)
Ms. Zhang Lele 828 789
Mr. Wu Jiaru* 70 67
Mr. Zhu Qi* 136 130
Ms. Zhang Chunna* 105 100
Dr. Lei Lei* 82 78
Ms. Xu Jingxin* 79 75

Total 1,300 1,239
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

The Group

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due from related parties:

Loans to related parties
 – non-trade in nature and non-current (note):
Ms. Zhang Lele 17,705 16,877
Mr. Wu Jiaru* 1,502 1,432
Mr. Zhu Qi* 2,913 2,777
Ms. Zhang Chunna* 2,249 2,144
Dr. Lei Lei* 1,756 1,674
Ms. Xu Jingxin* 1,695 1,616

Subtotal 27,820 26,520

Deemed prepaid remuneration to related parties
 – trade in nature (note)
Ms. Zhang Lele 6,269 7,097
Mr. Wu Jiaru* 548 618
Mr. Zhu Qi* 984 1,120
Ms. Zhang Chunna* 808 913
Dr. Lei Lei* 683 765
Ms. Xu Jingxin* 682 761

Subtotal 9,974 11,274

Total 37,794 37,794

Analysed into:
 Current portion 1,363 1,300
 Non-current portion 36,431 36,494

* Those persons are key management personnel of the Company. Mr. Zhu Qi is the chief medical officer. 
Dr. Lei Lei is the senior vice president of the research and development department. Ms. Zhang Chunna is 
the senior vice president of the regulatory affairs department. Ms. Xu Jingxin is the senior vice president of 
the manufacturing and quality control department. Mr. Wu Jiaru is the senior vice president of the finance 
and integrated management department.

The maturity dates of the loans borrowed by Ms. Zhang Lele in 2021 and 2022 are 1 September 2029 and 20 
November 2032, respectively. The maturity dates of the loans borrowed by key management personnel fall between 
5 August 2029 and 28 February 2032.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued):

The maximum amounts of the non-trade related receivables due from a director during the year:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Amount due from a related party
Ms. Zhang Lele 17,705 16,877

Note: The Group provided an eight-year unsecured and non-interest-bearing loans of RMB11,127,000 and a ten-
year unsecured and non-interest-bearing loans of RMB12,847,000 to Ms. Zhang Lele in December 2021 
and December 2022, respectively. Meanwhile, the Group also provided unsecured and non-interest-bearing 
loans of RMB3,576,000 and RMB10,244,000 to other key management personnel of the Group in December 
2021 and March 2022, respectively, with terms ranging from 7.5 years to 10 years. On initial recognition, 
the receivable was measured at fair value, which in this case was equal to the cash consideration given 
discounted to the present value using an effective interest rate of 4.90%. The difference between the loan 
amount and its fair value on initial recognition date was treated as deemed prepaid remuneration to Ms. 
Zhang Lele and other key management personnel and is amortised through the expected loan terms.

The Group has assessed the expected loss rate for amounts due from related parties by considering the financial 
position and credit history of these related parties and assessed that the expected credit loss is minimal.

(c) Other transactions with a related party

On 7 August 2020, the Group entered into a lease agreement with Shanghai Huazhou Pressure Sensitive Adhesive 
Products Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Huazhou”) which is controlled by Suzhou Frontline II, a shareholder of the Group 
and entered into another lease agreement with Shanghai Huazhou on 11 May 2021. The contracts between the 
Group and Shanghai Huazhou were terminated on 3 March 2023. Therefore, the amounts of right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities were nil as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The amount of interest expenses on lease liabilities 
was nil during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB3,000).

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind 17,880 20,658
Pension scheme contributions 424 397
Directors’ fee 1,050 603
Share-based payment expenses 47,075 88,239

Total 66,429 109,897

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the Reporting Period are as follows:

2024

Financial assets

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss

Mandatorily 
designated 

as such

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables – 99,164 99,164
Financial assets at FVTPL 479,955 – 479,955
Amounts due from related parties – 27,820 27,820
Financial assets included in prepayments, 
 other receivables and other assets – 18,480 18,480
Time deposits over three months – 10,530 10,530
Cash and cash equivalents – 385,670 385,670

Total 479,955 541,664 1,021,619

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables 78,898
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 263,303

Total 342,201
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
2023

Financial assets

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss

Mandatorily 
designated 

as such

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables – 62,198 62,198
Financial assets at FVTPL 469,337 – 469,337
Amounts due from related parties – 26,520 26,520
Financial assets included in prepayments, 
 other receivables and other assets – 18,942 18,942
Time deposits over three months – 330,192 330,192
Cash and cash equivalents – 473,120 473,120

Total 469,337 910,972 1,380,309

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost

RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables 100,526
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 189,411

Total 289,937
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits over three months, trade 
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets (in the current portion), financial 
liabilities included in trade and other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings (in the current portion) approximate 
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is responsible for determining the policies and procedures 
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the 
movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors 
review the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and 
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, 
amounts due from related parties and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected 
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. 
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 
31 December 2024 were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in wealth management products issued by portfolio companies in the Cayman Islands and banks in 
Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted cash flow 
valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

Fair value measurement using

Quoted 
prices in 

active markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial products – 479,955 – 479,955

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using

Quoted 
prices in 

active markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial products – 469,337 – 469,337
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31. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into 
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, time deposits over three months, financial 
assets at FVTPL, trade receivables and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments 
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as financial 
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and financial liabilities included in trade and other 
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from changes in exchange rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the 
USD and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (arising from USD 
denominated financial instruments) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in 

rate of foreign 
currency

Increase/
(decrease) in 

loss before tax

Increase/
(decrease) in 

equity
% RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2024
If RMB weakens against USD 5 (31,032) 31,032
If RMB strengthens against USD (5) 31,032 (31,032)

31 December 2023
If RMB weakens against USD 5 (31,071) 31,071
If RMB strengthens against USD (5) 31,071 (31,071)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish 
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which 
is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end 
staging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due from related parties – normal* 27,820 – – – 27,820
Financial assets included in prepayments, 
 other receivables and other assets – normal* 18,480 – – – 18,480
Time deposits over three months – not yet past due 10,530 – – – 10,530
Cash and cash equivalents – not yet past due 385,670 – – – 385,670
Trade receivables** – – – 100,346 100,346

Total 442,500 – – 100,346 542,846

As at 31 December 2023

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due from related parties – normal* 26,520 – – – 26,520
Financial assets included in prepayments, 
 other receivables and other assets – normal* 18,942 – – – 18,942
Time deposits over three months – not yet past due 330,192 – – – 330,192
Cash and cash equivalents – not yet past due 473,120 – – – 473,120
Trade receivables** – – – 62,950 62,950

Total 848,774 – – 62,950 911,724
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and amounts 
due from related parties is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information 
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the 
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

** For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the 
provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector. There 
is concentration in credit risks as the balances are with a few counterparties. Except for cash and cash equivalents and 
time deposits over three months, the other balances are not material.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 53% (2023: 53%) and 81% 
(2023: 91%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and three largest customers, 
respectively, within the operating segment.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the 
Group to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2024

Less than 1 year 
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in trade and 
 other payables 78,898 – – 78,898
Lease liabilities 14,393 35,695 16,171 66,259
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 216,907 50,618 – 267,525

Total 310,198 86,313 16,171 412,682

2023

Less than 1 year 
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in trade and 
 other payables 100,526 – – 100,526
Lease liabilities 12,956 38,145 12,118 63,219
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 133,144 61,660 – 194,804

Total 246,626 99,805 12,118 358,549
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 1,393,241 1,706,797

Total liabilities 418,511 357,758

Gearing ratio (note) 30% 21%

Note: Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and multiplying the product by 100%.
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 1,926,953 1,644,317

Total non-current assets 1,926,953 1,644,317

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 198 195
Amount due from a subsidiary 104,238 18,976
Financial assets at FVTPL 479,955 459,295
Time deposits over three months – 87,928
Cash and cash equivalents 83,147 312,165

Total current assets 667,538 878,559

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 6,823 17,551

Total current liabilities 6,823 17,551

NET CURRENT ASSETS 660,715 861,008

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,587,668 2,505,325

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 826 1,462

Total non-current liabilities 826 1,462

Net liabilities 2,586,842 2,503,863

EQUITY
Share capital 45 43
Treasury shares (13,857) –
Reserves (note) 2,600,654 2,503,820

Total equity 2,586,842 2,503,863
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 
premium

Share 
option 

reserve
Other 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2023 259,156 161,474 (206,305) (813,920) (599,595)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (1,455,666) (1,455,666)
Recognition of share-based payment expenses – 132,350 – – 132,350
Shares issued upon initial public offering 402,459 – – – 402,459
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred 
 shares to ordinary shares upon initial public 
 offering 4,024,272 – – – 4,024,272

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 4,685,887 293,824 (206,305) (2,269,586) 2,503,820
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year – – – 23,477 23,477
Recognition of share-based payment expenses – 68,615 – – 68,615
Shares issued upon exercise of share options  
 and restricted share units 4,742 – – – 4,742

At 31 December 2024 4,690,629 362,439 (206,305) (2,246,109) 2,600,654

34. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2025.
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DEFINITIONS
“Alpha Generation” Alpha Generation Fund SPC (on behalf of Alpha Plus Fund SP); Alpha Generation Fund SPC is 

an exempted company with limited liability registered as a segregated portfolio company under 
the laws of the Cayman Islands on 25 April 2022

“androgenetic alopecia” a common form of hair loss in both men and women

“Articles of Association” articles of association of the Company adopted on May 30, 2023

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Aurora Cutis” Aurora Cutis Medical Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (晨笛醫藥科技(上海)有限公司), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

“Board” the board of Directors of our Company

“CDE” Center for Drug Evaluation of the NMPA (中國國家藥品監督管理局藥品審評中心), a division of 
the NMPA to review applications for clinical trials and drug marketing authorization

“CEO” chief executive officer of the Company

“CFO” chief financial officer of the Company

“China”, “Chinese Mainland”,
 or “PRC”

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this report and for geographical reference 
only and except where the context requires, excluding Taiwan, the Macao Special Administrative 
Region and Hong Kong

“Chongqing Lehao” Chongqing Lehao Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (重慶樂豪醫藥有限公司), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company

“clinical trial” a research study for validating or finding the therapeutic effects and side effects of test drugs 
in order to determine the therapeutic value and safety of such drugs

“Company”, “our Company”
  or “Cutia”

Cutia Therapeutics (科笛集團), an exempted company with limited liability incorporated under 
the laws of the Cayman Islands on May 15, 2019, the Shares of which are listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2487)

“Core Product” has the meaning ascribed to it under Chapter 18A of the Listing Rules; for the purpose of this 
report, our Core Product refers to CU-20401

“Corporate Governance Code”
 or “CG Code”

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

“Cutia Shanghai” Cutia Therapeutics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (科笛生物醫藥(上海)有限公司), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company

“Cutia Wuxi” Cutia Therapeutics (Wuxi) Co., Ltd. (科笛生物醫藥(無錫)有限公司), a limited liability company 
established in the PRC on 4 December 2020 and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
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“dermatology” the branch of medicine that deals with the diagnosis and treatment of skin related disorders

“DHT” dihydrotestosterone, a male sex hormone which is the active form of testosterone, formed from 
testosterone in bodily tissue

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“FDA” Food and Drug Administration of the United States

“GMP” good manufacturing practice, the practices required in order to conform to the guidelines 
recommended by agencies that control the authorization and licensing of the manufacture and 
sale of products

“GMV” gross merchandise value

“Group”, “our Group”, “our”,
 “we”, or “us”

our Company and our subsidiaries

“HK$” or “Hong Kong Dollars” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” or “HK” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Hong Kong Department 
 of Health”

the Department of Health of the Government of Hong Kong

“IND” investigational new drug, an application in the drug review process required by an regulatory 
authority to decide whether a new drug is permitted to initiate clinical trials; also known as 
clinical trial application, or CTA, in China

“indication” a valid reason to use a specific test, drug, device, procedure or surgery

“Innovation Prosperity” Innovation Prosperity Fund SPC (on behalf of Novelty Inspiration Fund SP); Innovation 
Prosperity Fund SPC is an exempted company with limited liability registered as a segregated 
portfolio company under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 13 May 2022

“Key Product(s)” for the purpose of this report, our Key Products refer to CU-40102 and CU-10201

“Listing Date” 12 June 2023

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, 
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“mechanism of action” the specific biochemical interaction through which a drug substance produces its pharmacological 
effect

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 
C3 to the Listing Rules

“NDA” new drug application, a process required by an regulatory authority to approve a new drug for 
sale and marketing

“NMPA” the National Medical Products Administration of China (國家藥品監督管理局)

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board
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“Oriental Kylin” Oriental Kylin Fund SPC (on behalf of Phoenix Fund SP); Oriental Kylin Fund SPC is an 
exempted company with limited liability registered as a segregated portfolio company under 
the laws of the Cayman Islands on 17 May 2022

“Phase I clinical trial” a study in which a drug is introduced into healthy human subjects or patients with the 
target disease or condition and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, 
distribution, excretion, and if possible, to gain an early indication of its efficacy

“Phase II clinical trial” a study in which a drug is administered to a limited patient population to preliminarily evaluate 
the efficacy of the product for specific targeted diseases, to identify possible adverse effects 
and safety risks, and to determine optimal dosage

“Phase III clinical trial” a study in which a drug is administered to an expanded patient population generally at 
geographically dispersed clinical trial sites, in well-controlled clinical trials to generate enough 
data to statistically evaluate the efficacy and safety of the product for approval, to provide 
adequate information for the labeling of the product

“Prospectus” the prospectus issued by the Company dated 31 May 2023

“Post-IPO Equity Incentive Plan” the equity incentive plan adopted by the Company on 30 May 2023

“Pre-IPO Equity Incentive Plan” the equity incentive plan adopted by the Company that took effect on 23 August 2019

“R&D” research and development

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board

“Reporting Period” the year ended 31 December 2024

“RMB” the lawful currency of the PRC

“Shares” ordinary share(s) with nominal value of US$0.00002 each in the share capital of the Company

“Shareholders” holder(s) of the Shares

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Subscription(s)” Subscription(s) of the Wealth Management Product(s) by the Company

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance

“Summit View” Summit View Fund SPC (on behalf of Distant View Fund SP); Summit View Fund SPC is an 
exempted company with limited liability registered as a segregated portfolio company under the 
laws of the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2023

“US” or “United States”
 or “the U.S.”

the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any State of the United States, 
and the District of Columbia

“US$” or “U.S. dollars” the lawful currency of the U.S.
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